

Università di Firenze, Università di Perugia, INdAM consorziate nel CIAFM

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN MATEMATICA, INFORMATICA, STATISTICA

CURRICULUM IN MATEMATICA CICLO XXXVI

Sede amministrativa Università degli Studi di Firenze Coordinatore Prof. Matteo Focardi

Nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators: a study of their approximation properties in modular spaces

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare MAT/05

Dottorando Mariarosaria Natale **Tutore** Prof. Gianluca Vinti

Coordinatore Prof. Matteo Focardi

Anni 2020/2023

To my beloved family, all those close to my heart, and the esteemed Professors, I wish to express my deepest gratitude for your invaluable presence and support throughout these challenging three years.

Happiness can be found, even in the darkest of times, if one only remembers to turn on the light.

Contents

Introduction					
1	Pre	liminaries	1		
	1.1	Modular spaces	1		
		1.1.1 Musielak-Orlicz spaces	6		
		1.1.2 Orlicz spaces	9		
		1.1.3 Another example of modular spaces	11		
	1.2	Moduli of smoothness and Lipschitz classes	12		
2	Classical results and approximation by nonlinear generalized sam-				
	\mathbf{plin}	g operators	17		
	2.1	The classical WKS sampling theorem	17		
	2.2	Generalized sampling type operators	19		
	2.3	Nonlinear generalized sampling type operators	21		
3	Nor	nlinear sampling Kantorovich operators	28		
	3.1	Definitions and preliminary assumptions	28		
	3.2	Pointwise and uniform convergence	32		
	3.3	Modular convergence in Orlicz spaces	34		
	3.4	Applications to particular cases of Orlicz spaces	39		
	3.5	Examples of kernels	40		
4	Qua	antitative and qualitative estimates	51		
	4.1	Quantitative estimates in $C(\mathbb{R}^n)$	51		
	4.2	Quantitative estimates in Orlicz spaces	58		
		4.2.1 Application to special kernels	65		
	4.3	Quantitative estimates in Lebesgue spaces	66		
	4.4	Qualitative order of convergence in Lipschitz classes	70		
5	\mathbf{Ext}	ensions to modular spaces	72		
	5.1	Convergence results in modular spaces	72		

5.2	Particular case: convergence results in Musielak-Orlicz spaces 5.2.1 Convergence results in weighted Orlicz spaces	$\frac{80}{85}$	
	5.2.2 Convergence results in Orlicz spaces	86	
5.3	Particular case: modulars without an integral representation	87	
Conclusions and Future Developments			
Bibliography			

Introduction

In the last 50 years, motivated by both theoretical and practical reasons, several approximate versions of the well-known Whittaker-Kotel'nikov-Shannon (WKS) sampling theorem have been studied. The main purposes behind these generalizations were to weaken the assumptions on the function that can be reconstructed by a given family of sampling values. Indeed, in the classical sampling theorem, only band-limited with finite energy signals can be reconstructed. This means that, as a consequence of the Paley-Wiener theorem, the signal must be the restriction to the real axis of an entire function of exponential type, and therefore a very regular function.

One of the most known approximate version of the sampling theorem is due to P. L. Butzer and his school at the RWTH Polytechnic of Aachen. Butzer introduced a family of generalized sampling series, whose multivariate version is given by

$$(G_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}), \ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ w > 0,$$
(I)

where $\chi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function with compact support, and $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a bounded function. The function χ is said to be the *kernel* of the multivariate generalized sampling operators. The family $(G_w f)_{w>0}$ is suitable to reconstruct continuous signals; this is due to their definition in (I) which depends on the pointwise values of the function that must be approximated.

In order to introduce a family of approximation operators that allows to reconstruct not necessarily continuous signals, a Kantorovich version of the univariate generalized sampling series has been introduced in [13]. The multivariate version of the sampling Kantorovich operators has been treated in [46], which, for any given kernel χ , is defined as

$$(S_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) \left[\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u}\right], \quad \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}, \quad w > 0.$$
(II)

Here, $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and

$$R_{\underline{k}}^{w} := \left[\frac{t_{k_{1}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{1}+1}}{w}\right] \times \left[\frac{t_{k_{2}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{2}+1}}{w}\right] \times \dots \times \left[\frac{t_{k_{n}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{n}+1}}{w}\right], \quad w > 0.$$

where $(t_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}$ is a suitable vector, with $(t_{k_i})_{k_i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ a sequence of real numbers, $A_{\underline{k}} := \Delta_{k_1} \cdot \Delta_{k_2} \cdots \Delta_{k_n}$, and $\Delta_{k_i} := t_{k_i+1} - t_{k_i} > 0$. The choice of $(t_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}$ allows us to sample signals by an irregular sampling scheme; if $t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{k}, \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we proceed to the uniform case as in (I). Moreover, the multidimensional case revealed to be very useful in order to face the problem of image reconstruction. For more details and, as concerns some applications of the above theory to concrete real-world problems, the readers can see [12, 44, 45]. For additional references on Kantorovich type operators, see, e.g., [2–4, 13, 42, 48–52, 57, 72].

Recently, in [47], the above sampling type series have been extended and generalized by the introduction of the so-called *nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators*, defined by

$$(K_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right), \quad \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad w > 0,$$
(III)

where $\chi : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a nonlinear kernel function, which satisfies suitable assumptions (see Chapter 3). Further, if $\chi(\underline{x}, u) = L(\underline{x})u, \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}$, the operators $K_w f$ reduce to the linear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators considered in (II). Their univariate version has been firstly introduced in [78].

The analysis of (III) goes beyond its mathematical significance and finds practical applications in various fields. One important example can be furnished in signal processing, when one has to describe some nonlinear transformations generated by signals that, during their filtering process, produce new frequencies. Power electronics and wireless communications involve amplifiers that introduce nonlinear distortions to their input signals. Similarly, in radiometric photography and CCD image sensors, the relationship between input radiance and intensity exhibits nonlinearity, even though it is monotone increasing. Amplifier saturation also introduces nonlinear distortions to the input signal.

The pioneer works of the theory of nonlinear operators, in connection with approximation problems, and a wide literature, can be found in [10, 11, 15, 16, 22, 24, 59, 63, 65–69, 77, 79]. As these references show, one of the main difficulties in passing from the linear to the nonlinear setting is that one has to introduce a suitable notion of singularity for the family of kernel functions. Such hypothesis was first introduced by Musielak in [65] in modular spaces and then weakened in [66, 67].

Another problem which arises in connection with estimates and convergence results for nonlinear operators is what kind of assumption one must impose on the kernel function and, in this respect, a kind of generalized Lipschitz condition on the kernel function must be assumed. It follows that the approach and the methods obtained in the nonlinear framework are different from those used in the linear case.

Motivated by these developments, the goal of the present PhD thesis is to examine and analyze the convergence properties and the order of approximation of nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators in Orlicz spaces, and to extend the convergence properties within the more general framework of modular spaces. The latter spaces have been firstly introduced in [71] by Nakano as a generalization of Orlicz spaces, which, in turn, have been introduced as a natural extension of the classical Lebesgue spaces.

Building upon the insights presented in [47], which establish both pointwise and uniform convergence, as well as modular convergence within Orlicz spaces, we deal with the problem of the order of approximation. In particular, in [36] we estimate the rate of convergence through both quantitative and qualitative analysis in the space of bounded and uniformly continuous functions and in the setting of Orlicz spaces. In this respect, a crucial role is played by the basical properties of the modulus of continuity and the modulus of smoothness, respectively.

Further, in [43] we provide convergence result in the more general setting of modular spaces via a density approach. First we prove a modular convergence theorem, as well as a Luxemburg norm convergence result, for the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators acting on the space of continuous functions with compact support, then we obtain a modular-type inequality, and finally we exploit a well-known density result for the continuous function with compact support in the modular spaces. The choice to work within modular spaces is driven by the fact that they enable us to provide a unifying approach to several settings of approximation problems. In fact, modular spaces include Musielak-Orlicz spaces, which contain, for instance, weighted-Orlicz spaces and Orlicz spaces, as well as spaces of functions equipped by modulars that are not of integral type.

The structure of the thesis is organized as follows.

Chapter 1 collects basic definitions and preliminary results about modular spaces, establishing the framework for the subsequent chapters. Special emphasis is placed on the Musielak-Orlicz spaces and the Orlicz spaces. Moreover, here we also recall the notion of modulus of smoothness, which plays an important role in Approximation Theory and throughout the thesis, and we discuss its main properties.

In Chapter 2, we propose an historical overview of some important results of

the classical WKS-sampling theorem (see, e.g., [28]) and of the generalized sampling operators (see, [9,29,30,35,75]). We explore both the linear and nonlinear forms of these operators, highlighting their properties. This historical perspective serves as a foundation for Chapter 3, clarifying the crucial transition from the linear to the nonlinear setting and emphasizing its significance, also from an application point of view.

Chapter 3 is devoted to a detailed study of the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich type series. In particular, we present pointwise and uniform approximation results, along with a modular convergence theorem in the setting of Orlicz spaces. Here, by using some special kernels, several examples and graphical representations are also provided.

In Chapter 4, the focus shifts to the quantitative analysis, studied in [36], of the aforementioned operators. In this respect, we establish some quantitative estimates in $C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and in Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, using their typical modulus of smoothness. As a consequence, the qualitative order of convergence can be obtained in the case of functions belonging to suitable Lipschitz classes. In the particular instance of L^p -spaces, using a direct approach, we obtain a sharper estimate than the one that can be deduced from the general case of Orlicz spaces.

Finally, Chapter 5 explores some approximation results in the broader context of modular spaces, that we face in [43]. Modular convergence theorems are proved under suitable assumptions, together with a modular inequality. The convergence results in the Musielak-Orlicz spaces, in the weighted Orlicz spaces, and in the Orlicz spaces follow as particular cases. Moreover, we deduce the convergence in spaces of functions equipped by modulars that lack an integral representation.

The thesis ends with the conclusions, which summarize the main goals achieved, discuss open research questions, and outline potential future directions.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we denote by $\Omega = (\Omega, \Sigma_{\Omega}, \mu_{\Omega})$ an arbitrary measure space, i.e., Ω is a non empty set, Σ_{Ω} is a σ -algebra of subsets of Ω and μ_{Ω} is a non negative, complete measure in Σ_{Ω} , which does not vanish identically. Let $M(\Omega)$ denote the space of all extended real-valued, Σ_{Ω} -measurable functions on Ω , finite μ -a.e. with equality μ -a.e.

Definition 1.0.1. A functional $K : \Omega \times \Omega \times DomK \to \mathbb{R}$, where $DomK \subset M(\Omega)$, is said to be a kernel functional, if for every $f \in DomK$, the functional K(s,t,f) is measurable in $\Omega \times \Omega$, and if K(s,t,0) = 0, for every $s, t \in \Omega$.

As a result, K(s, t, f) is Σ_{Ω} -measurable as a function of the variable t for μ -a.e. $s \in \Omega$, so the kernel functional generates an *integral operator* T by the formula

$$(Tf)(s) = \int_{\Omega} K(s,t,f) d\mu(t).$$
 (IV)

To investigate any kind of convergence process for a sequence or family of nonlinear operators of the form (IV), some function spaces with a suitable notion of convergence should be presented.

1.1 Modular spaces

In this section we introduce some generalization of L^p -spaces using the concept of Orlicz spaces and, more in general, the one of modular spaces.

Modular spaces were firstly introduced by H. Nakano ([71]) in 1950 and the theory was extensively developed since 1959 by the Polish mathematicians J. Musielak and W. Orlicz ([70]).

Let $X(\Omega)$ be the, real or complex, vector space of all Σ_{Ω} -measurable functions on Ω . **Definition 1.1.1.** A functional $\rho : X(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$ is called a modular on $X(\Omega)$, if the following conditions are satisfied

- $(\rho 1) \ \rho(f) = 0$, if and only if $f \equiv 0 \ \mu_{\Omega}$ -a.e. in Ω ;
- $(\rho 2) \ \rho(-f) = \rho(f) \ or \ \rho(e^{it}f) = \rho(f), \ for \ every \ t \in \mathbb{R}, \ if \ X(\Omega) \ is \ a \ complex \ vector space;$

$$(\rho 3) \ \rho(\alpha f + \beta g) \leq \rho(f) + \rho(g), \text{ for every } f, g \in X(\Omega), \text{ and } \alpha, \beta \geq 0, \ \alpha + \beta = 1.$$

Definition 1.1.2. A modular ρ is called p-convex, 0 , if

$$\rho(\alpha f + \beta g) \le \alpha^p \rho(f) + \beta^p \rho(g), \ \forall \alpha, \beta \ge 0, \ \alpha^p + \beta^p = 1.$$

In the case of p = 1, we have the usual notion of convexity for ρ .

Example 1.1.3. If $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is a normed linear space, then the functional $\rho(x) = \|x\|$ is a convex modular in X, as follows from the definition of ρ .

Obviously, in general a modular is not a norm.

Example 1.1.4. Let $X = L^p(\Omega)$, then $\rho(f) = \int_{\Omega} |f(t)|^p d\mu(t)$, 0 is a*p* $-convex modular for <math>0 and a convex modular for <math>p \ge 1$.

Now we show some useful properties of a modular ρ .

Proposition 1.1.5. A modular ρ satisfies the following conditions

i)
$$\rho(\alpha f) \leq \rho(f)$$
, for $|\alpha| \leq 1$;
ii) $\rho\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i f_i\right) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho(f_i)$ with $\alpha_i \geq 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i = 1$;

iii) $\rho(\lambda_1 f) \leq \rho(\lambda_2 f)$, for every $f \in X$ and let λ_1, λ_2 be real constants, with $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$.

Proof. i) Without loss of generality, we assume $0 \le \alpha \le 1$, since by $(\rho 2)$ of Definition 1.1.1 ρ is symmetric. Now, using the property $(\rho 3)$ of the modular with $x \in \mathbb{R}$, y = 0, α and $\beta = 1 - \alpha$

$$\rho(\alpha f) = \rho(\alpha f + \beta 0) \le \rho(f) + \rho(0) = \rho(f).$$

ii) It can be easily proved by induction.

iii) Let λ_1, λ_2 be real constants such that $0 < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2$. Since $0 < \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2} < 1$, it follows that $\rho(\lambda_1 f) = \rho\left(\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}\lambda_2 f\right) \leq \rho(\lambda_2 f)$ by *i*).

Definition 1.1.6. Let ρ be a modular on $X(\Omega)$. We define the modular space generated by ρ , as

$$L_{\rho}(\Omega) := \left\{ f \in X(\Omega) : \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \rho(\lambda f) = 0 \right\}.$$

It can be proved that any modular space $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ is a vector subspace of $X(\Omega)$.

Definition 1.1.7. Let $X(\Omega)$ be a vector space. Then a functional $|\cdot| : X(\Omega) \rightarrow [0, +\infty]$ is called an F-norm if it satisfies the following assumptions

- (F1) |f| = 0 if and only if $f \equiv 0 \ \mu_{\Omega}$ -a.e. in Ω ;
- (F2) if $X(\Omega)$ is a real vector space, then |-f| = |f| and $|e^{it}f| = |f|$ for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$, if $X(\Omega)$ is a complex vector space;

$$(F3) |f+g| \le |f| + |g|,$$

(F4) if
$$\alpha_n \to \alpha$$
 and $|f_n - f| \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, then $|\alpha_n f_n - \alpha f| \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$.

Note that condition (F_4) of the Definition 1.1.7 is weaker than the positive homogeneity; for this reason in general an F-norm is not a norm, while the converse implication is always true.

In general, a modular is not an F-norm (or a norm); however, starting from a modular, we can define an F-norm. Indeed, the following proposition holds ([64]).

Proposition 1.1.8. If ρ is a modular on $X(\Omega)$, then the functional

$$|f|_{\rho} := \inf \{ u > 0 : \rho(f/u) \le u \}$$

is an F-norm on $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ and satisfies the following properties

- i) if $\rho(\lambda f) \leq \rho(\lambda g)$ for every $f, g \in X_{\rho}$ and $\lambda > 0$, then $|f|_{\rho} \leq |g|_{\rho}$;
- ii) if $f \in X_{\rho}$, then $|\alpha f|_{\rho}$ is non decreasing with respect to $\alpha > 0$;

iii) if $|f|_{\rho} < 1$, then $\rho(f) \leq |f|_{\rho}$.

Proposition 1.1.9. Let ρ be a convex modular on $X(\Omega)$, then

$$||f||_{\rho} := \inf \{u > 0 : \rho(f/u) \le 1\}$$

is a norm and it is called the Luxemburg norm.

Proof. If $f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, then $\rho(f/n) \to 0$, as $n \to +\infty$. Hence the set $\{u > 0 : \rho(f/u) \le 1\}$ is non empty, and so $0 \le ||f||_{\rho} < +\infty$ and $||0||_{\rho} = 0$. If $||f||_{\rho} = 0$, by convexity of ρ , we have for $0 < u \le 1$

$$\rho(f) = \rho\left(u\frac{f}{u}\right) \le u\rho\left(\frac{f}{u}\right) \le u.$$

Taking $u \to 0^+$, we get $\rho(f) = 0$ and consequently f = 0. In order to get the triangle inequality, let us take any $\varepsilon > 0$ and let us put $u = ||f||_{\rho} + \varepsilon$ and $v = ||g||_{\rho} + \varepsilon$, where $f, g \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$. Then $\rho(f/u) \leq 1$ and $\rho(g/v) \leq 1$. By convexity of ρ , we obtain

$$\rho\left(\frac{f+g}{u+v}\right) = \rho\left(\frac{u}{u+v}\frac{f}{u} + \frac{v}{u+v}\frac{g}{v}\right) \le \frac{u}{u+v}\rho(f/u) + \frac{v}{u+v}\rho(g/v) \le 1.$$

Thus $||f + g||_{\rho} \le u + v = ||f||_{\rho} + ||g||_{\rho} + 2\varepsilon$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, we obtain the triangle inequality for $|| \cdot ||_{\rho}$.

Finally, we have for $f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ and $c \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\begin{aligned} \|cf\|_{\rho} &= \inf\left\{u > 0 \, : \, \rho\left(\frac{|c|f}{u}\right) \le 1\right\} \\ &= |c| \inf\left\{\frac{u}{|c|} > 0 \, : \, \rho\left(\frac{f}{u/|c|}\right) \le 1\right\} = |c| \, \|f\|_{\rho} \,. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

We point out that the properties *i*)-*iii*) of Proposition 1.1.8 remain valid if we replace $|\cdot|_{\rho}$ by $\|\cdot\|_{\rho}$.

The following statement gives a necessary and sufficient condition for norm convergence of a sequence of functions $f_n \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ in the sense of the F-norm $|\cdot|_{\rho}$ (or the norm $||\cdot||_{\rho}$).

Theorem 1.1.10. Let $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ be the modular space generated by a modular ρ and let $f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ and $f_n \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, for n = 1, 2, ... There holds $f_n \to f$, in the sense of the F-norm $|\cdot|_{\rho}$ (or the norm $||\cdot||_{\rho}$), if and only if $\rho(\lambda(f_n - f)) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, for every $\lambda > 0$.

In connection with Theorem 1.1.10, one may introduce on $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ a weaker concept of convergence.

Definition 1.1.11. A sequence of functions $f_n \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ is said to be modularly convergent (or ρ -convergent) to a function $f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, if there exists a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \rho(\lambda(f_n - f)) = 0$$

We denote this convergence by $f_n \xrightarrow{\rho} f$ as $n \to +\infty$.

The notions of modular and Luxemburg norm convergence are equivalent in $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, if and only if, the following condition holds

if
$$f_n \in L_\rho(\Omega), \ \rho(f_n) \to 0$$
 then $\rho(2f_n) \to 0$, for $n \to +\infty$. (Δ_2)

In Section 1.1.2, we will see that there exist modular spaces (Orlicz spaces of exponential type), where (Δ_2) does not hold, i.e., modular convergence does not imply norm convergence. So it make sense to investigate the problems connected with modular convergence, separately.

This is significant in the development of the theory of modular spaces, because if there would be only norm convergence in $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, then the entire purpose of a modular ρ would be reduced to that of defining a norm (or an F-norm) in a vector space. However, because modular convergence is in general not reducible to norm convergence, the modular notion leads to problems that cannot be formulated in the language of the metric vector spaces. For further details concerning modular convergence, see e.g. [70].

Definition 1.1.12. The space of finite elements of $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$E_{\rho}(\Omega) := \{ f \in X(\Omega) : \rho(\lambda f) < +\infty \text{ for every } \lambda > 0 \}.$$

In general, $E_{\rho}(\Omega)$ is a proper subspace of $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$; however $E_{\rho}(\Omega) = L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ if and only if the Δ_2 -condition is satisfied (see, e.g., [22, 64]).

Further, we need to recall the following properties of the functional ρ .

Definition 1.1.13. We say that a modular ρ is

- (a) monotone if $\rho(f) \leq \rho(g)$ whenever $|f| \leq |g|$, for every $f, g \in X(\Omega)$;
- (b) finite if the characteristic function $\mathbf{1}_A$ of every measurable set A of finite μ_{Ω} -measure belongs to $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$;
- (c) strongly finite if each $\mathbf{1}_A$ as above belongs to $E_{\rho}(\Omega)$;
- (d) absolutely finite if ρ is finite and if for every $\varepsilon, \lambda_0 > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\rho(\lambda_0 \mathbf{1}_B) < \varepsilon$ for every $B \in \Sigma_\Omega$ with $\mu_\Omega(B) < \delta$;
- (e) absolutely continuous if there is $\alpha > 0$ such that for every $f \in X(\Omega)$ with $\rho(f) < +\infty$, the following two conditions hold:
 - (i) for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a measurable subset $A \subset \Omega$ with $\mu_{\Omega}(A) < +\infty$ such that $\rho(\alpha f \mathbf{1}_{\Omega \setminus A}) < \varepsilon$;
 - (ii) for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\rho(\alpha f \mathbf{1}_B) < \varepsilon$ for all measurable sets $B \subset \Omega$ with $\mu_{\Omega}(B) < \delta$.

Note that, if ρ is convex then any strongly finite modular is also finite.

Now, we recall the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem for modular spaces (see [67]), that will be useful in Chapter 5.

Theorem 1.1.14. Let ρ be a monotone, finite and absolutely continuous modular on $X(\Omega)$. Let (f_n) be a sequence of functions $f_n \in X(\Omega)$ such that $f_n \to 0 \ \mu_{\Omega}$ -a.e. in Ω , as $n \to +\infty$. Moreover, let suppose that there exists a function $g \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ such that $\rho(3g) < +\infty$ and $|f_n(x)| \leq g(x) \ \mu_{\Omega}$ -a.e. in Ω , for n = 1, 2, ... Then $\rho(f_n) \to 0$, as $n \to +\infty$.

Finally, in what follows, we will denote by $C^0(\Omega)$ and $C(\Omega)$ the set of all bounded functions $f : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ which are respectively continuous and uniformly continuous on Ω , endowed with the sup-norm.

Denoting by $C_c(\Omega)$ the subspace of $C(\Omega)$ consisting of functions with compact support, we can state the following density result, which will be used in order to state the main modular approximation results of this paper.

Theorem 1.1.15 (see Theorem 1 of [62]). Let ρ be a absolutely continuous, monotone and absolutely finite modular on $X(\Omega)$. Then $\overline{C_c(\Omega)}^{\rho} = L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, where the bar represents the closure with respect to the modular topology on $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$.

1.1.1 Musielak-Orlicz spaces

In this section, we consider some particular cases of modular spaces: the Musielak-Orlicz spaces, which have been again introduced by Nakano in the 50's, and deeply studied by Musielak and Orlicz (see, e.g., [22, 50, 55, 56, 64, 67]).

Definition 1.1.16. Let $\varphi : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^+_0 \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ which satisfy the following conditions

 $(\varphi 1) \varphi(\cdot, u)$ is Σ_{Ω} -measurable for every $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$;

- $(\varphi 2)$ for every $t \in \Omega$, $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ is continuous and non decreasing on \mathbb{R}^+_0 such that $\varphi(t, 0) = 0$, $\varphi(t, u) > 0$ for u > 0 and $\varphi(t, u) \to +\infty$ as $u \to +\infty$;
- $(\varphi 3) \ \varphi \ is \ \tau$ -bounded, i.e., there are a constant $C \ge 1$ and a measurable function $F: \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ such that for every $t, s \in \Omega$ and $u \ge 0$

$$\varphi(t-s,u) \le \varphi(t,Cu) + F(t,s).$$

A function φ , as above, is said a τ -bounded φ -function, and for a sake of simplicity, we will call it simply a φ -function.

We can observe that if $\varphi(t, \cdot)$ is convex on \mathbb{R}_0^+ , for every $t \in \Omega$, then φ is also continuous and non decreasing with respect to the second variable u.

Remark 1.1.17. Interested readers may find the original definition of τ -boundness in the monograph of Musielak ([64], pag. 37). We point out that one may also consult [23] for a constructive procedure about examples of Musielak-Orlicz spaces satisfying the τ -boundness with $F \neq 0$. However, from now on, we will only consider φ -functions φ which satisfy condition (φ 3) with $F \equiv 0$.

Then, it is easily shown that

$$\rho(f) = \rho^{\varphi}(f) := \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t, |f(t)|) d\mu(t)$$
(1.1)

is a modular on the space $M(\Omega)$. In fact, the conditions $(\rho 1)$ and $(\rho 2)$ of Definition 1.1.1 are obviously satisfied by the assumptions on φ and on the absolute value. Moreover, we remark that if $\rho^{\varphi}(f) = 0$, then $\varphi(t, |f(t)|) = 0$ a.e. $t \in \Omega$, so f(t) = 0 a.e. $t \in \Omega$, and viceversa.

Finally we prove $(\rho 3)$. Let $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$ with $\alpha + \beta = 1$ be fixed. Since φ is non decreasing with respect to the second variable, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \rho^{\varphi}(\alpha f + \beta g) &= \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t, |\alpha f(t) + \beta g(t)|) d\mu(t) \leq \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t, \alpha |f(t)| + \beta |g(t)|) d\mu(t) \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t, \max\{|f(t)|, |g(t)|\}) d\mu(t) \leq \int_{\Omega} \left[\varphi(t, |f(t)|) + \varphi(t, |g(t)|)\right] d\mu(t) \\ &= \rho^{\varphi}(f) + \rho^{\varphi}(g). \end{split}$$

Moreover, if $\varphi(t, u)$ is a convex function of u for all $t \in \Omega$, then ρ^{φ} is a convex modular on $M(\Omega)$.

The modular space generated by ρ^{φ} is called a *Musielak-Orlicz space*, it is briefly denoted by $L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$ and it is defined as follows

$$L^{\varphi}(\Omega) := L_{\rho^{\varphi}}(\Omega) = \{ f \in M(\Omega) : \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \rho^{\varphi}(\lambda f) = 0 \}.$$

Remark 1.1.18 ([22]). It is easy to check that the modular ρ defined as in (1.1) satisfies the properties (a)-(e) given in Definition 1.1.13. In fact, ρ is always monotone, ρ is finite if and only if $\varphi(\cdot, u)$ is locally integrable for small u (i.e. for every $A \in \Sigma$ with $\mu(A) < +\infty$ there is a u > 0 such that $\int_A \varphi(t, u) d\mu(t) < +\infty$), and ρ is absolutely finite if and only if $\varphi(\cdot, u)$ is locally integrable (i.e. for every $A \in \Sigma$ with $\mu(A) < +\infty$ there holds $\int_A \varphi(t, u) d\mu(t) < +\infty$ for all u > 0).

The condition $\rho(f) < +\infty$ in (e) means that the function $\varphi(t, |f(t)|)$ is integrable in Ω . Then the *absolute continuity* of the modular ρ with $\alpha = 1$ follows from the well-known properties of the integral.

Proposition 1.1.19. The following relation holds

$$L^{\varphi}(\Omega) = \{ f \in M(\Omega) : \rho^{\varphi}(\lambda f) < +\infty, \text{ for some } \lambda > 0 \}.$$

Proof. (\subseteq) It is trivial by the definition of limit.

 $(\supseteq) \text{ Let } f \in M(\Omega) \text{ such that } \rho^{\varphi}(\overline{\lambda}f) < +\infty \text{ for } \overline{\lambda} > 0 \text{ fixed. Then for all } \lambda \leq \overline{\lambda}, \text{ we get } \varphi(t, \lambda | f(t) |) \leq \varphi(t, \overline{\lambda} | f(t) |) \text{ for } t \in \Omega \text{ a.e., since } \varphi \text{ is non decreasing with respect to the second variable and } \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \varphi(t, \lambda | f(t) |) = \varphi(t, 0) = 0 \text{ by the continuity of } \varphi.$

Since $\varphi(\cdot, \overline{\lambda}|f(\cdot)|) \in L^1(\Omega)$, by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem we have

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t, \lambda | f(t) |) d\mu(t) = \int_{\Omega} \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \varphi(t, \lambda | f(t) |) d\mu(t) = 0,$$

$$\varphi^{\varphi}(\Omega).$$

so $f \in L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$.

Theorem 1.1.20. The Musielak-Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$ are complete with respect the *F*-norm $|\cdot|_{\alpha^{\varphi}}$ and so are Banach spaces.

As a particular case of Musielak-Orlicz spaces, one can consider φ -functions of product type, of the form

$$\varphi(t, u) := \theta(t) \,\widetilde{\varphi}(u), \tag{1.2}$$

with $t \in \Omega$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$, which satisfy the following conditions

- $(\mathcal{F}1) \ \theta \in M(\Omega)$ and there exist $M \ge m > 0$ such that $m \le \theta(t) \le M$, for every $t \in \Omega$;
- $(\mathcal{F}2) \ \widetilde{\varphi} : \mathbb{R}_0^+ \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ is a continuous and non decreasing function such that $\widetilde{\varphi}(0) = 0$ and $\widetilde{\varphi}(u) > 0$ for u > 0;
- $(\mathcal{F}3)$ for every $\lambda_1 > 0$ there exists $\lambda_2 \ge 1$ such that $\lambda_1 \widetilde{\varphi}(u) \le \widetilde{\varphi}(\lambda_2 u), u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$.

It is easy to see that assumptions (φ_1) - (φ_3) are satisfied, where (φ_3) holds with $F \equiv 0$ and $C = \lambda_2$. In fact, from (\mathcal{F}_3) with $\lambda_1 = M/m$, we can write

$$\varphi(t-s,u) = \theta(t-s) \ \widetilde{\varphi}(u) \le \frac{M}{m} \theta(t) \ \widetilde{\varphi}(u) \le \theta(t) \ \widetilde{\varphi}(\lambda_2 u) = \varphi(t,\lambda_2 u),$$

for every $u \geq 0$.

Example 1.1.21. If we set $\theta \equiv 1$ in (1.2), i.e., $\varphi = \tilde{\varphi}$ and it does not depend on the first variable *t*, we find the case of *Orlicz spaces*, that will be considered in Section 1.1.2.

Example 1.1.22. Let us consider the case of functions of several variables by setting $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$. Some concrete examples of weighted Orlicz spaces generated by φ -function of the form (1.2) can be obtained by choosing, for instance

$$\theta(\underline{t}) := \frac{5}{\|\underline{t}\|_2^2 + 1} + 1, \quad \underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(1.3)

and as function $\tilde{\varphi}$ one of the following

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_1(u) := u^p, \qquad \widetilde{\varphi}_2(u) := u^\alpha \log^\beta(u+e),$$

for every $u \ge 0$, with $1 \le p < +\infty$, $\alpha \ge 1$ and $\beta > 0$, and where $\|\cdot\|_2$ is the usual Euclidean norm defined by $\|\underline{t}\|_2 := (t_1^2 + \cdots + t_n^2)^{1/2}$. Obviously, it is easy to show that the above product-type φ -functions satisfy conditions ($\mathcal{F}1$), ($\mathcal{F}2$) and ($\mathcal{F}3$). The Musielak-Orlicz spaces generated by $\varphi = \theta \widetilde{\varphi}_1$ are the so-called weighted L^p -spaces and the ones generated by $\varphi = \theta \widetilde{\varphi}_2$ are the weighted Zygmund spaces.

Example 1.1.23. In $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, we can also consider the following more interesting example of Musielak-Orlicz spaces, which are generated by the φ -functions

$$\varphi_3(\underline{t}, u) := e^{\Psi(\underline{t})u^{\gamma}} - 1, \qquad (1.4)$$

with $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$ and $\gamma > 0$, where the function Ψ satisfies the inequality of condition ($\mathcal{F}1$) for suitable $0 < m \leq M$. By simple computations, it can be shown that also φ -functions of the form as in (1.4) are τ -bounded with $F \equiv 0$ and $C = (M/m)^{1/\gamma}$. As an example of function Ψ one can consider, e.g., the function $\Psi(\underline{t}) = \theta(\underline{t})$ defined in (1.3). Such spaces are the so-called *weighted exponential* spaces.

1.1.2 Orlicz spaces

In this section, we analyze the case presented in Example 1.1.21. So, we now consider the φ -functions of the form $\varphi(t, u) = \tilde{\varphi}(u), t \in \Omega, u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$. In order to simplify the notation, we will write φ instead of $\tilde{\varphi}$.

Let φ be a fixed φ -function. Then we can introduce the functional $I^{\varphi} : X(\Omega) \to [0, +\infty]$, defined by

$$\rho(f) = I^{\varphi}[f] := \int_{\Omega} \varphi(|f(t)|) d\mu(t).$$
(1.5)

It turns out that I^{φ} is a modular on the space $M(\Omega)$. The respective modular space is called an *Orlicz space* and it is denoted by $L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$.

Note that, if φ is a convex φ -function, then $I^{\varphi}[f]$ is a convex modular functional (see, e.g., [22, 64, 73]).

Remark 1.1.24. If $\Omega = \mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, \dots\}$ and μ is the counting measure in Ω , the respective Orlicz space is denoted by ℓ^{φ} and it is called *sequential Orlicz space*.

Remark 1.1.25 ([64]). In the case of Orlicz spaces, the modular I^{φ} and the norms $|\cdot|_{I^{\varphi}}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{I^{\varphi}}$ are rearrangement invariant, i.e., if $f, g \in M(\Omega)$ are equimeasurable functions, then $I^{\varphi}(f) = I^{\varphi}(g)$, $|f|_{I^{\varphi}} = |g|_{I^{\varphi}}$ and $\|f\|_{I^{\varphi}} = \|g\|_{I^{\varphi}}$. This property does not hold in general for the Musielak-Orlicz spaces.

If we consider the convex φ -function $\varphi(u) = \widetilde{\varphi}_1(u) = u^p, u \ge 0, 1 \le p < +\infty$, the Orlicz space generated by φ is the well-known L^p -spaces $L^{\varphi}(\Omega) = L^p(\Omega)$. In such case, the Luxemburg norm $\|\cdot\|_{I^{\varphi}}$ in $M(\Omega)$ is equal to

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{I^{\varphi}} &= \inf \left\{ u > 0 \ : \ I^{\varphi}[f/u] \le 1 \right\} = \inf \left\{ u > 0 \ : \ \int_{\Omega} \left| \frac{f(t)}{u} \right|^{p} d\mu(t) \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \inf \left\{ u > 0 \ : \ \frac{1}{|u|^{p}} \int_{\Omega} |f(t)|^{p} d\mu(t) \le 1 \right\} \\ &= \inf \left\{ u > 0 \ : \ \int_{\Omega} |f(t)|^{p} d\mu(t) \le u^{p} \right\} \\ &= \inf \left\{ u > 0 \ : \ \|f\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \le u \right\} = \|f\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)} \,. \end{split}$$

For a sake of completeness, we recall the Vitali convergence theorem, which provides a characterization of the L^p -convergence and which will be useful in Chapter 3.

Theorem 1.1.26. Let (f_n) be a sequence in $L^p(\Omega)$, with $1 \leq p < +\infty$. Then $f_n \to f$ in L^p if and only if the following conditions are satisfied

- (i) (f_n) converges in measure to f;
- (ii) for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a measurable set E_{ε} , with $\mu(E_{\varepsilon}) < +\infty$ (here μ denotes the Lebesgue measure), such that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for every measurable set F, with $F \cap E_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$, we have

$$\int_F |f_n|^p d\mu < \varepsilon^p$$

(iii) for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for any measurable set E with $\mu(E) < \delta(\varepsilon)$, then

$$\int_E |f_n|^p d\mu < \varepsilon^p.$$

Example 1.1.27. Other well-known and useful examples of Orlicz spaces are, e.g., the exponential spaces which can be generated by the convex φ -function $\varphi(u) = \widetilde{\varphi}_3(u) = e^{u^{\gamma}} - 1$, for $\gamma > 0$ (i.e., the function Ψ defined in (1.4) is identically equal to 1). Moreover, we also have the Zygmund (or interpolation) spaces $L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\Omega)$ which are generated by the φ -functions $\varphi(u) = \widetilde{\varphi}_2(u) = u^{\alpha} \log^{\beta}(u+e)$, with $1 \leq \alpha < +\infty$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

For further results concerning Orlicz spaces, see e.g., [17, 22, 61, 64, 73, 74].

We conclude this section by recalling the Δ_2 -condition. In the setting of Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$, such property can be rewritten in terms of the φ -function φ . We say that φ satisfies (Δ_2) if there exists M > 0 such that the inequality

$$\varphi(2u) \le M\varphi(u) \tag{\Delta}_2$$

holds, for every $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$.

Example 1.1.28. In $L^{p}(\Omega)$ and in $L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\Omega)$ the Δ_{2} -condition is satisfied, then the norm and modular convergence are equivalent and moreover $L^{\varphi}(\Omega) \equiv E^{\varphi}(\Omega)$.

Example 1.1.29. In the case of exponential type spaces, e.g. with $\varphi(u) = e^{|u|} - 1$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^+_0$, the Δ_2 -condition is not satisfied. Indeed,

$$\frac{\varphi(2u)}{\varphi(u)} = \frac{e^{2|u|} - 1}{e^{|u|} - 1} \to +\infty, \text{ as } u \to +\infty.$$

Therefore $E^{\varphi}(\Omega)$ is strictly contained in $L^{\varphi}(\Omega)$ and the modular convergence does not imply the norm convergence.

1.1.3 Another example of modular spaces

In the previous section, we discussed examples of modular spaces characterized by modular functionals in the integral form. In this section, we present an example of modulars that are defined by the supremum, hence that can not be reconducted to integrals.

Let *m* be a measure on an interval $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$, where *b* may be equal to $+\infty$, defined on the σ -algebra of all Lebesgue measurable subsets of [a, b]. Let *W* be a nonempty set of indices and let $(a_{\ell}(\cdot))_{\ell \in W}$ be a family of Lebesgue measurable positive real-valued functions on [a, b]. Moreover, let $\Phi : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^+_0 \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ be a function satisfying the following conditions

- 1) $\Phi(x, u)$ is a non decreasing, continuous function of $u \ge 0$, for every $x \in [a, b]$;
- 2) $\Phi(x,0) = 0$, $\Phi(x,u) > 0$ for u > 0, and $\Phi(x,u) \to +\infty$ as $u \to +\infty$, for every $x \in [a,b]$;
- 3) there exists $\lim_{x \to b^-} \Phi(x, u) = \widetilde{\Phi}(u) < +\infty$ for every u > 0;
- 4) $\Phi(x, u)$ is a Lebesgue measurable function on x in [a, b] for every $u \ge 0$.

Then, the functional

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(x,f) = \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,|f(t)|) d\mu(t)$$

is an Orlicz modular in $M(\Omega)$ for every $x \in [a, b]$. We denote by $M_m(\Omega)$ the subset of $M(\Omega)$ consisting of functions $f \in M(\Omega)$ such that $\mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(\cdot, f\mathbf{1}_A)$ is Lebesgue measurable in [a, b], for every $A \in \Sigma$. In particular, if $\Phi(x, u)$ is continuous (or a monotone) function of $x \in [a, b]$ for every $u \geq 0$, then $M_m(\Omega) = M(\Omega)$. We now define an extended functional \mathcal{A}_{Φ} on $M_m(\Omega)$ by means of the formula

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Phi}(f) = \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_{a}^{b} a_{\ell}(x) \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(x, f) dm(x),$$

with $f \in M_m(\Omega)$. The functional \mathcal{A}_{Φ} is a modular on $M_m(\Omega)$, and in the case when $\Phi(x, u)$ is a convex function of $u \ge 0$, for all $x \in [a, b[, \mathcal{A}_{\Phi} \text{ is a convex modular.}$ Under other suitable conditions (see [22], (b) of p. 19 and (b) of p. 23), \mathcal{A}_{Φ} is a monotone, strongly finite, absolutely finite and absolutely continuous modular on $M_m(\Omega)$.

1.2 Moduli of smoothness and Lipschitz classes

One of the main task of Approximation Theory, other than the study of convergence properties of sequence or family of operators, is to establish the so-called order of approximation. In order to do this, it is necessary to recall the notion of *modulus* of smoothness of a given function and its main properties.

The introduction of the modulus of smoothness, for bounded and continuous functions, is attributed to Lebesgue (1910) and later to de la Vallée Poussin (1919). Here, it will be defined in the context of modular spaces $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ generated by a certain modular ρ . In this case, we assume Ω is provided with an operation $+ : \Omega \times \Omega \to \Omega$ (we do not need to suppose that $(\Omega, +)$ is a group). For a sake of simplicity, we will assume that the operation + is commutative throughout this section. It is not difficult to extend this to the case of a non commutative operation, in such case the notions defined below have right-hand side and left-hand side versions.

In what follows, we will need the notion of a filter \mathcal{U} of subsets Ω and the one of a basis \mathcal{U}_0 of a filter.

Definition 1.2.1. A family $\mathcal{U} \neq \emptyset$ of non empty subsets of Ω is said to be a filter in Ω if it satisfies the following two conditions

- 1) if $U_1, U_2 \in \mathcal{U}$, then $U_1 \cap U_2 \in \mathcal{U}$;
- 2) if $U_1 \in \mathcal{U}$, $U_2 \subset \Omega$ and $U_1 \subset U_2$, then $U_2 \in \mathcal{U}$.

A family $\mathcal{U}_0 \subset \mathcal{U}$ is a basis of the filter \mathcal{U} if for every set $U \in \mathcal{U}$ there exists a set $V \in \mathcal{U}_0$ such that $V \subset U$.

Preliminaries

The concept of convergence can be generalized to a general filter \mathcal{U} of subsets of Ω and obviously, we can limit ourself to convergence to zero.

Definition 1.2.2. A function $f : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{U} -convergent to zero if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a set $U_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $|f(t)| < \varepsilon$, for all $t \in U_{\varepsilon}$.

We denote this convergence by $f(t) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{U}} 0$. It is clear that the following equivalence holds: $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{U} -convergent to zero if and only if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a set $U_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{U}_0$ such that $|f(t)| < \varepsilon$, for all $t \in U_{\varepsilon}$.

Using the notion of a filter, we will specify a relationship between the operation + in Ω , the σ -algebra Σ , and the measure μ in the measure space (Ω, Σ, μ) . For arbitrary $A \in \Sigma$ and $t \in \Omega$, let us denote

$$A_t := \{ s \in \Omega : t + s \in A, s \notin A \text{ or } t + s \notin A, s \in A \}.$$

Therefore, we say that $(\Omega, \mathcal{U}, \Sigma, \mu)$ is a *filtered system* with respect to $X(\Omega)$ if

- 1. the filter \mathcal{U} contains a basis \mathcal{U}_0 ,
- 2. if $A \in \Sigma$ and $\mu(A) < +\infty$, then $A_t \in \Sigma$ for every $t \in \Omega$ and $\mu(A_t) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{U}} 0$,
- 3. $X(\Omega)$ invariant with respect to the operation +, i.e. if $f \in X(\Omega)$ then $f(t+\cdot) \in X(\Omega)$ for every $t \in \Omega$.

Finally, we can provide the following definition.

Definition 1.2.3. The ρ -modulus of smoothness is defined as the map $\omega_{\rho} : X(\Omega) \times \mathcal{U} \to [0, +\infty]$ where

$$\omega_{\rho}(f, U) := \sup_{t \in U} \rho\left(f(\cdot + t) - f(\cdot)\right),$$

for every $f \in X(\Omega)$ and $U \in \mathcal{U}$.

This notion has been introduced in [20], and further applied in [21].

The following theorem summarizes the fundamental properties of a modulus of smoothness.

Theorem 1.2.4. If ρ is a monotone modular on $X(\Omega)$, then

$$(a) \ \omega_{\rho}(f, V) \leq \omega_{\rho}(f, U), \ for \ f \in X(\Omega) \ and \ for \ U, V \in \mathcal{U}, \ V \subset U;$$

$$(b) \ \omega_{\rho}(|f|, U) \leq \omega_{\rho}(f, U), \ for \ f \in X(\Omega), \ U \in \mathcal{U};$$

$$(c) \ \omega_{\rho}(af, U) \leq \omega_{\rho}(bf, U), \ for \ f \in X(\Omega), \ U \in \mathcal{U}, \ 0 \leq a \leq b;$$

$$(d) \ \omega_{\rho}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}, U\right) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \omega_{\rho}(nf_{i}, U), \ for \ f_{1}, f_{2}, \cdots, f_{n} \in X(\Omega), \ U \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Proof. Properties (a), (c), (d) are trivial. Applying the monotonicity of ρ and the fact that if $f \in X(\Omega)$ then $|f| \in X(\Omega)$, we obtain

$$\rho(|f(\cdot+t)| - |f(\cdot)|) \le \rho(|f(\cdot+t) - f(\cdot)|) = \rho(f(\cdot+t) - f(\cdot)),$$

which implies (b).

For further considerations, we need to introduce the notion of boundedness of a modular ρ .

Definition 1.2.5. A modular ρ is said to be bounded (with respect to the operation + and a filter \mathcal{U} in Ω), if there are a constant $C \geq 1$ and a function $\ell : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ satisfying the conditions $\ell \in L^{\infty}(\Omega), \ \ell(t) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{U}} 0$, such that for every function $f \in X(\Omega)$ and every $t \in \Omega$ there holds

$$\rho(f(\cdot + t)) \le \rho(Cf) + \ell(t).$$

Hence, we can state the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2.6 (see Theorem 2.4 of [22]). Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{U}, \Sigma, \mu)$ be a filtered system and let ρ be a monotone, absolutely finite, absolutely continuous and bounded modular on $X(\Omega)$. Then for every function $f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega)$, there exists a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\omega_{\rho}(\lambda f, U) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{U}} 0.$$

Example 1.2.7. Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ be provided with the operation of usual addition + component by component and let μ be the Lebesgue measure in the σ -algebra of all Lebesgue measurable subsets on \mathbb{R}^n . Let φ be the function from Definition 1.1.16 and let

$$\rho(f) = \rho^{\varphi}(f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\underline{t}, |f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t}.$$

The filter \mathcal{U} is the family of all open neighborhoods of the neutral element $\underline{0} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, with the basis consisting of all balls with the center at $\underline{0}$ and radius δ , with $\delta > 0$. Obviously $(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathcal{U}, \Sigma, \mu)$ is a filtered system, where $A_{\underline{t}} = A \triangle (A - \underline{t})$ for every $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denoting by $A \triangle B$ the symmetric difference of sets A and B. The map $\omega_{\rho} : M(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathcal{U} \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by

$$\omega_{\varphi}(f,\delta) := \omega_{\rho}(f,U_{\delta}) = \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_{2} \le \delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi(\underline{s}, |f(\underline{s}+\underline{t}) - f(\underline{s})|) d\underline{s},$$

is the φ -modulus of smoothness in the Musielak-Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If we restrict the modulus ω_{φ} to the basis \mathcal{U}_0 , we obtain, by Theorem 1.2.6, that for every $f \in L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $\omega_{\varphi}(\lambda f, \delta) \to 0$, as $\delta \to 0^+$. Now, we introduce the Lipschitz classes used in modular spaces in order to study the rate of convergence for a certain family of operators we will deal with in Chapter 4. So, let \mathcal{T} be the class of measurable functions $\tau : \Omega \to [0, +\infty]$ such that $\tau(t) > 0$, $t \in \Omega, t \neq \theta$, we

Definition 1.2.8. For a given $\tau \in \mathcal{T}$, we define the subspace $Lip_{\rho}(\tau)$ of $L_{\rho}(\Omega)$ by

 $Lip_{\rho}(\tau) := \{ f \in L_{\rho}(\Omega) : \text{ there is } \lambda > 0 \text{ with } \rho(\lambda | f(\cdot + t) - f(\cdot) |) = \mathcal{O}(\tau(t)), \text{ as } t \to \theta \}.$

The symbol \mathcal{O} means that, for any two functions $f, g \in X(\Omega)$, $f(t) = \mathcal{O}(g(t))$, as $t \to \theta$, if there exist a constant C > 0 and $U \in \mathcal{U}_0$ such that $|f(t)| \leq C|g(t)|$ for $t \in U$.

Such classes are called *modular Lipschitz classes*, whose notion was introduced in [25] based on the definition of the classical Zygmund classes of L^p -functions (see example below).

Example 1.2.9. Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ with the Lebesgue measure and let $\rho(f) = ||f||_p$ be the L^p -norm of a function $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \leq p < +\infty$. We recall, for $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the definition of the first order L^p -modulus of smoothness of f, given by

$$\omega_p(f,\delta) := \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \le \delta} \|f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot)\|_p = \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \le \delta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{s} + \underline{t}) - f(\underline{s})|^p d\underline{s} \right)^{1/p},$$

with $\delta > 0$. From Theorem 1.2.6, it immediately follows that for every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $\omega_p(\lambda f, \delta) \to 0$, as $\delta \to 0^+$. Furthermore, it is interesting to point out that the well-known inequality

$$\omega_p(f,\lambda\delta) \le (1+\lambda)\,\omega_p(f,\delta)$$

holds, with $\delta, \lambda > 0$, which is not satisfied in general for the φ -modulus of smoothness instead. This property will be of fundamental importance, as we will see in Chapter 4. In such case, the Lipschitz classes of Zygmund-type in L^p -spaces, with $0 < \nu \leq 1$, are defined as follows

$$Lip_p(\nu) := \{ f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) : \| f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \|_p = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}), \text{ as } \|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0 \}.$$

Example 1.2.10. As made in the particular context of $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces, we can give the definition of Lipschitz classes in Musielak-Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We define by $Lip_{\varphi}(\nu), 0 < \nu \leq 1$, the set of all functions $f \in L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that there exists $\lambda > 0$ with

$$\rho^{\varphi}\left(\lambda\left(f(\cdot+\underline{t})-f(\cdot)\right)\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi\left(\underline{s},\lambda\left|f(\underline{s}+\underline{t})-f(\underline{s})\right|\right) d\underline{s} = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}),$$

as $\|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0$.

Example 1.2.11. Let $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ with the Lebesgue measure and let $\rho(f) = ||f||_{\infty} = \sup_{\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{x})|$ be the usual sup-norm on \mathbb{R}^n . For $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we define the modulus of continuity as follows

$$\omega(f,\delta) := \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \leq \delta} |f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot)|,$$

with $\delta > 0$. It is easy to prove that the modulus of continuity satisfies the following properties

- (a) $\omega(f, \delta)$ is a non decreasing function of δ , i.e., $\omega(f, \delta') \leq \omega(f, \delta)$, for $0 < \delta' \leq \delta$;
- (b) $\omega(f,\lambda\delta) \leq (1+\lambda)\omega(f,\delta)$, for every $\lambda > 0$; in particular if $\lambda = n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\omega(f,n\delta) \leq n \, \omega(f,\delta)$;
- (c) $\omega(f, \delta) \to 0$, as $\delta \to 0^+$;
- (d) if $\omega(f, \delta) = o(\delta)$, as $\delta \to 0^+$, then f is constant a.e.

Finally, the Lipschitz classes $Lip(\nu)$, $0 < \nu \leq 1$, in the space of bounded and uniformly continuous functions is defined by

$$Lip(\nu) := \{ f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n) : \| f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \|_{\infty} = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}), \text{ as } \|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0 \}.$$

Chapter 2

Classical results and approximation by nonlinear generalized sampling operators

In this chapter, we will consider the problem of approximation of a function f, belonging to a certain functional space, by means of the so-called *generalized sampling operators* both in their linear (Section 2.2) and nonlinear (Section 2.3) form. Several proofs have been omitted, and the interested reader is invited to consult the references.

2.1 The classical WKS sampling theorem

The starting point for us comes directly from the famous sampling theorem, which states that, given a band-limited function $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$, it is possible to reconstruct f on the whole real axis by means of an interpolation formula.

This result was firstly proved by Whittaker in 1915; some years later, in 1933 and 1949 respectively, Kotel'nikov and Shannon showed its connection with information theory and its applications. For these reasons, in literature we refer to the classical sampling theorem as the Whittaker-Kotel'nikov-Shannon sampling theorem, or briefly, the WKS sampling theorem.

Here the statement follows.

Theorem 2.1.1. Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ be a continuous and band-limited function, i.e., $supp \widehat{f} \subset [-\pi w, \pi w], w > 0$, where \widehat{f} denotes the Fourier transform of f. Then the following reconstruction formula holds

$$(S_w f)(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} f\left(\frac{k}{w}\right) \operatorname{sinc}[\pi(wx - k)] = f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(2.1)

where

$$sinc(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{\sin(x)}{x} & x \neq 0, \\ 1 & x = 0. \end{cases}$$

In other words, the sampling theorem provides the exact reconstruction formula (2.1) taking into account only the behaviour of the function f in its sample values f(k/w) calculated at the nodes k/w, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, uniformly spaced on the whole real axis.

Even if the sampling theorem represents a very deep and elegant mathematical theorem, from the point of view of the applications it presents some disadvantages. Indeed, according to (2.1), in order to reconstruct the signal completely, one should know the behaviour of f in an infinite number of sample values, which one usually does not have at disposal. Moreover, if x represents the present time, then formula (2.1) says that one should know the samples of the signal not only in the past of x, but also in the future, that is for k/w > x. Still more, the signal should be with finite energy and band-limited, which implies f is the restriction on the real axis of an entire function of exponential type πw , as a consequence of the *Paley-Wiener theorem*. This consists into consider a family of extremely regular signals. Clearly, real world signals are not very regular. As an example, it is sufficient to consider the case of images (both digital and analogue). Indeed, images are multidimensional signals, that in correspondence to the edges of the figures have jumps of gray levels in the gray scale (or in the RGB color scale). These strong luminance variations can be represented, from a mathematical point of view, by discontinuities.

Finally, in view of the *Heisenberg principle*, such a function can not be durationlimited, and in practice most of the signals have the last property.

In the last 60 years, many extensions and generalizations of the classical sampling theorem have been studied, in order to overcome its application problems. Weiss, in 1963 ([80]), and subsequently Brown, in 1967 ([27]), proved the following result.

Theorem 2.1.2. Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \cap C(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\widehat{f} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$. Then

$$|(S_w f)(x) - f(x)| \le \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \int_{|v| \ge \pi w} \left| \widehat{f}(v) \right| dv, \qquad (2.2)$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

By (2.2) we get that $(S_w f)_{w>0}$ is uniformly convergent to f; in fact, since $\widehat{f} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, it results that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \int_{|v| \ge \pi w} \left| \widehat{f}(v) \right| dv = 0.$$

In Theorem 2.1.2, the assumption that f is band-limited has been avoided; but it is easy that if we choose a band-limited function, we obtain again Theorem 2.1.1.

Furthermore, it can be shown that in the upper bound (2.2), the constant $\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}$ can not be improved, i.e., it can not be replaced with a lower one.

2.2 Generalized sampling type operators

In the 80's, Butzer and his school (see, e.g., [29,32-35,75]) replaced the sinc function in formula (2.1) by a function χ which is continuous with compact support contained in a real interval, obtaining an approximate sampling formula. Clearly, by using such a function χ , one only needs to know a finite number of sample values. Besides, assuming some additional hypotheses will permit to reconstruct the signal only by using sample values taken from the past, which means to make a prediction of the signal. Namely, they considered a family of discrete operators, called *generalized* sampling operators of the form

$$(G_w f)(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} f\left(\frac{k}{w}\right) \chi(wx - k), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

with w > 0. Such operators were firstly introduced in their univariate form, and subsequently extended to the multidimensional setting (see, [30]). The study of the convergence in the multivariate frame is crucial mainly from the applications point of view: in fact, in signal theory, and especially in image processing, we have to work with multivariate signals. Moreover, convergence results that include also the case of not necessarily continuous functions, turn out to be particularly useful in the multivariate setting, since image, for instance, are represented mathematically by bivariate functions with discontinuities in correspondence of the edges of the image itself, where jumps of grey levels occur. Hence, from now on, we shall only consider the multivariate case.

Definition 2.2.1. Let $\chi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded function. We define the family of operators $(G_w f)_{w>0}$ as follows

$$(G_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}), \ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The function χ is said to be the kernel of the generalized sampling operators.

Definition 2.2.2. Let $\chi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function and $\beta \ge 0$. We define by

$$m_{\beta}(\chi) := \sup_{\underline{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left\| \underline{u} - \underline{k} \right\|_2^{\beta} \left| \chi(\underline{u} - \underline{k}) \right|,$$

the discrete absolute moment of order β of the function χ .

Note that in general, it turns out that $0 \leq m_{\beta}(\chi) \leq +\infty$, $\beta \geq 0$. If $\chi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the moments $m_{\beta}(\chi)$ are finite for every $\beta \geq 0$.

Let, now, f be a bounded function and $\chi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$. It is easy to prove the following estimate

$$|(G_w f)(\underline{x})| \le \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \right| |\chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k})| \le \|f\|_{\infty} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |\chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k})| \le \|f\|_{\infty} m_0(\chi),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Since f is bounded and $m_0(\chi) < +\infty$, by the above inequality it follows that the generalized sampling operators are well-defined in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The following pointwise and uniform convergence theorem can be stated.

Theorem 2.2.3. Let $\chi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\chi(\underline{u}-\underline{k})=1,$$
(2.3)

for every $\underline{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, if $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is bounded and continuous in $\underline{x}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, it results that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} (G_w f)(\underline{x}_0) = f(\underline{x}_0).$$

In particular, if $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \left\| G_w f - f \right\|_{\infty} = 0.$$

In general, checking if a function satisfies the hypothesis (2.3) is not easy. We refer the reader to Remark 3.1.3, where a condition equivalent to (2.3), based on the study of the Fourier transform, is provided.

The following corollary shows that, in order to reconstruct a signal f at \underline{x}_0 , we need of sampling values taken only in the past of \underline{x}_0 , i.e., by the generalized sampling operators we are able to solve the problem of the linear prediction by samples from the past. This also solves one of the application disadvantages of the WKS-sampling theorem.

Corollary 2.2.4. Let $\chi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $supp \chi \subset (0, +\infty)^n$ and satisfying (2.3). Then for every bounded function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$, if \underline{x}_0 is a point of continuity of f, we get

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} (G_w f)(\underline{x}_0) = \lim_{w \to +\infty} \sum_{\underline{k}/w < \underline{x}_0} f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \chi(w\underline{x}_0 - \underline{k}) = f(\underline{x}_0),$$

where $\underline{k}/w < \underline{x}_0$ means that $k_i/w < x_{0,i}$, for every $i = 1, \dots, n$.

Remark 2.2.5. Some quantitative estimates of the uniform convergence in the space C^0 in terms of the classical modulus of continuity, together with a Voronovskaja asymptotic formula, have been established in [19]. Here, the authors consider not necessarily compactly supported kernels such that (2.3) holds.

Classical results and approximation by nonlinear generalized sampling operators

2.3 Nonlinear generalized sampling type operators

In [24], Bardaro and Vinti considered, for the first time, the generalized sampling series in its nonlinear form. From the point of view of the applications, a nonlinear version of the generalized sampling operators may be useful in order to approximate a nonlinear signals, as for example a signal generated by an earthquake, an explosion, and so on.

Definition 2.3.1. The family of nonlinear generalized operators $(G_w f)_{w>0}$ is of the form

$$(G_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right)\right), \ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

defined for every $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ for which the above series converges.

In recent years, there has been a large increase in interest of the scientific community in nonlinear approximation operators. The pioneer works of the theory of nonlinear integral operators, in connection with approximation problems, can be reconducted to Musielak (see [65–69]). Later, it has been extensively developed in the monograph by Bardaro, Musielak and Vinti ([22]), and studied in various paper by other authors (see, e.g., [17, 63, 78, 79]). This topic, i.e., the possibility to have at disposal a nonlinear constructing procedure for signal reconstruction, is of considerable interest, not only from the mathematical point of view, but also for applications to Signal and Digital Image Processing. In fact, the reconstruction of signals by means of nonlinear sampling-type operators may describe some nonlinear models: for instance, such operators are also suitable in order to describe nonlinear transformations generated by computed signals that, during their filtering process, generate new frequencies.

One of the main problems to be solved in passing from the linear to the nonlinear setting is that of introducing a suitable notion of singularity for the family of kernel functions. Such hypothesis was first introduced by Musielak in [65] in modular spaces and then weakened it in [66, 67]. Another problem which arises in connection with estimates and convergence results for nonlinear operators is what kind of assumption one must impose on the kernel function and, in this respect, a kind of Lipschitz condition on the kernel function must be assumed. This last condition is always used in literature in order to deal with approximation by means of nonlinear operators and here we use a generalized Lipschitz condition.

Let $\chi : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a *kernel*, that is, χ satisfies the following assumptions $(\chi 1) \ (\chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, u))_{\underline{k}} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}$ and w > 0; $(\chi 2) \ \chi(\underline{x}, 0) = 0$, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$; $(\chi 3) \ \chi$ is an (L, ψ) -Lipschitz kernel, i.e., there exist a measurable function L: $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ and a φ -function $\psi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$|\chi(\underline{x}, u) - \chi(\underline{x}, v)| \le L(\underline{x})\psi(|u - v|),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$;

 $(\chi 4)$ for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and w > 0, putting

$$\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) := \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u| \le j} \left| \frac{1}{u} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}, u \right) - 1 \right|,$$

we have $\lim_{w \to +\infty} \mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) = 0$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

As previously stated, such assumptions are the most reasonable for reproducing classical conditions in the framework of linear operators. Moreover, we need to assume that the function L in the (L, ψ) -condition belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and there is a constant M > 0 such that

$$\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}) \le M,\tag{2.4}$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0. For instance, it is possible to show that (2.4) implies that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \sum_{\|w\underline{x} - \underline{k}\|_2 > \delta w} L(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}) = 0, \qquad (2.5)$$

for every $\delta > 0$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ (see [75]).

In [24], the authors proved the following uniform approximation result, which extends Theorem 2.2.3.

Theorem 2.3.2. Let $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then it results

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \left\| G_w f - f \right\|_{\infty} = 0.$$

Moreover, $G_w : C(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and for some constant M > 0, we have that $\|G_w f\|_{\infty} \leq M\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})$, for every w > 0.

Proof. First, we evaluate $||G_w f||_{\infty}$. By conditions (χ^2) , (χ^3) and (2.4), we can write, taking into account that $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\begin{aligned} |(G_w f)(\underline{x})| &= \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right)\right) \right| \leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}\right) \psi\left(\left|f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right)\right|\right) \\ &\leq M\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}), \end{aligned}$$

Classical results and approximation by nonlinear generalized sampling operators

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$; hence, we obtain $\|G_w f\|_{\infty} \leq M\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})$, and so $G_w : C(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We now evaluate $||G_w f - f||_{\infty}$. Let $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be fixed, by $(\chi 3)$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} |(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| &= \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \right) - \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right) - f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k} \right) \psi\left(\left| f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) - f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right| \right) \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right) - f\left(\underline{x}\right) \right| \\ &= I_1 + I_2. \end{aligned}$$

We estimate I_1 . By the uniform continuity of f at \underline{x} , for a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that $|f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| < \varepsilon$ for every $||\underline{u} - \underline{x}||_2 \leq \gamma$. We can use such γ to split I_1 into two additional summands

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \left\{ \sum_{\|w\underline{x}-\underline{k}\|_2 \leq \gamma w} + \sum_{\|w\underline{x}-\underline{k}\|_2 > \gamma w} \right\} L\left(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}\right)\psi\left(\left|f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) - f\left(\underline{x}\right)\right|\right) \\ &\leq M\psi(\varepsilon) + \varepsilon\psi(2\,\|f\|_{\infty}), \end{split}$$

using both conditions (2.4) and (2.5).

From the boundedness of f, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\sup_{\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{x})| \le j$, with $\frac{1}{j} < \varepsilon$. Let $A_j := \{\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : 0 < f(\underline{x}) < 1/j\}$, taking into account condition (χ^2) , we can rewrite I_2 as follows

$$I_{2} \leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right| + \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right| + |f(\underline{x})| \mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x})$$
$$=: I_{2,1} + I_{2,2}.$$

It is clear that $I_{2,2} \leq ||f||_{\infty} \mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x})$, and using $(\chi 4)$ we have that $I_{2,2} \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$ uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For $I_{2,1}$, we get

$$I_{2,1} \leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right) \right| + \left| f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\left| f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right| \right) + \left| f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right|$$

$$\leq M \psi \left(\frac{1}{j} \right) + \frac{1}{j} \leq M \psi \left(\varepsilon \right) + \varepsilon.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrarily chosen, we have that $I_2 \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$.

Remark 2.3.3. In the case of $f(\underline{x}) = u$, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $u \neq 0$ a fixed number, it follows that if $||G_w f - f||_{\infty} \to 0$, as $w \to +\infty$, then

$$\left|\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\chi(w\underline{x}-\underline{k},u)-u\right|\to 0,$$

as $w \to +\infty$, which implies that

ī.

$$\left|\frac{1}{u}\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\chi(w\underline{x}-\underline{k},u)-1\right|\to 0,$$

ī.

as $w \to +\infty$, i.e., $\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) \to 0$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. This means that the notion of singularity is also necessary in order to have the required approximation theorem.

It would be interesting to formulate such approximation results not only for uniformly continuous functions, but also for functions belonging to L^p -spaces, or more to some general function spaces. So, we are now interested in working in the general setting of Orlicz spaces, and we refer to [77], where the following approximation results are proved.

In order to establish the main convergence theorem for functions belonging to an Orlicz space, we suppose the following growth condition on the composition of the function φ , which generates the Orlicz space, and the function ψ of the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition. We assume what follows.

Let φ be a fixed φ -function; we suppose that there is a φ -function η such that, for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, there exists a constant $C_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$ satisfying

$$\varphi(C_{\lambda}\psi(u)) \le \eta(\lambda u),\tag{H}_{\varphi}$$

for every $u \in \mathbb{R}^+_0$, where ψ is the φ -function of the condition (χ 3).

This condition is quite common working in the approximation theory with a nonlinear setting, for more details, see, e.g., [22].

Assuming L of condition $(\chi 3)$ with compact support on \mathbb{R}^n , we establish the following theorem.

Theorem 2.3.4. Let φ be a convex φ -function. For every $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\lambda > 0$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I_{\varphi}[\lambda(G_w f - f)] = 0.$$

Proof. Let $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and let $\operatorname{supp} f \subset B(\underline{0}, \gamma)$, for a certain constant $\gamma > 0$. Then, by condition (χ^2) , the nonlinear generalized sampling operators reduce to the finite sum

$$(G_w f)(\underline{x}) = \sum_{\|\underline{k}\|_2 \le w\gamma} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right)\right),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0. Assuming $\operatorname{supp} L \subset B(\underline{0}, R)$, with R > 0, we obtain $L(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}) = 0$, for every $\underline{x} \notin B(\underline{0}, R + \gamma)$, $\underline{k} \in B(\underline{0}, w\gamma)$ and $w \ge 1$. So, from the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition, we deduce that $\operatorname{supp} G_w f \subset B(\underline{0}, R + \gamma)$, for every $w \ge 1$.

Now, using similar reasoning to that of Theorem 2.3.2 with $\lim_{w\to+\infty} \mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) = 0$ for a.e. $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and taking into account (2.5), we obtain that $\lim_{w\to+\infty} [(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})] = 0$, for a.e. $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Moreover, by the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition and (2.4) we estimate $|(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|$ as follows

$$\begin{aligned} |(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| &= |(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)} \\ &\leq [|(G_w f)(\underline{x})| + |f(\underline{x})|] \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)} \\ &\leq \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - \underline{k})\psi\left(\left|\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right|\right) + |f(\underline{x})| \right] \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)} \\ &\leq [M\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) + \|f\|_{\infty}] \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)}, \end{aligned}$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $w \ge 1$. Applying a dominated convergence theorem and by

continuity of φ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \lim_{w \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi[\lambda|(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|] d\underline{x} = \\ &= \lim_{w \to +\infty} \int_{B(\underline{0}, R+\gamma)} \varphi[\lambda|(G_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|] d\underline{x} = 0, \\ \text{r every } \lambda > 0. \end{split}$$

for every $\lambda > 0$.

Now, given N > 0, let \mathcal{L}_N be the subset of $L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ whose elements f satisfy the following assumption

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \frac{1}{w^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \eta\left(\lambda \left| f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \right| \right) \le N \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \eta(\lambda |f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x},$$
(2.6)

for every $\lambda > 0$.

Theorem 2.3.5. Let φ be a convex φ -function satisfying condition (H_{φ}) with η convex. Given any two functions f, g in the domain of the operators $G_w, w > 0$, such that $f - g \in \mathcal{L}_N$, for N > 0. Then, there is a constant P > 0, depending on N, such that for every $\lambda \in (0,1)$ there exists a constant $\mu > 0$, for which

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} I_{\varphi}[\mu(G_w f - G_w g)] \le P I_{\eta}[\lambda(f - g)].$$

Proof. Let $\lambda \in (0,1)$ be fixed. There exists a constant $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$ such that the condition (H_{φ}) is satisfied. We choose a constant $\mu > 0$ such that $\mu M \leq C_{\lambda}$. Thus, by the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition, and applying Jensen inequality and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} I_{\varphi}[\mu(G_w f - G_w g)] &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}, f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right) - \chi \left(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}, g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right) \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}) \psi \left(\left| f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) - g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right| \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{M} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}) \varphi \left(\mu M \psi \left(\left| f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) - g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right| \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{M} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}) \eta \left(\lambda \left| f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) - g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right| \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{M} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) - g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right| \right) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L(w \underline{x} - \underline{k}) d\underline{x} \right] \\ &= \frac{||L||_1}{Mw^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) - g \left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w} \right) \right| \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Now, applying (2.6) with (f - g) instead of f, we obtain that

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} I_{\varphi}[\mu(G_w f - G_w g)] \le \frac{N \|L\|_1}{M} I_{\eta}[\lambda(f - g)]$$

Therefore, the assertion follows with $P = N \|L\|_1 / M$.

Thereby, we can state the following modular convergence theorem.

Theorem 2.3.6. Let φ be a convex φ -function satisfying condition (H_{φ}) with η convex. Then, for every $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $f - C_c(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \mathcal{L}_N$, there exists a constant $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I_{\varphi}[\mu(G_w f - f)] = 0.$$

The proof of Theorem 2.3.6 is substantially based on Theorem 2.3.4, Theorem 2.3.5 and on the density of $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in $L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with respect to the topology induced by the modular convergence.

Remark 2.3.7. We note that the class \mathcal{L}_N includes the set of all functions $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $h_{\lambda}(\underline{x}) := \eta(\lambda | f(\underline{x}) |)$ is Riemann integrable on \mathbb{R}^n for every $\lambda > 0$ and

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \frac{1}{w^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \eta\left(\lambda \left| f\left(\frac{\underline{k}}{w}\right) \right| \right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \eta(\lambda |f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x}.$$

In [58], it is proved that the Riemann integrable functions of "bounded coarse variation" provide a characterization of the class of functions h_{λ} satisfying the previous equality, where the concept of "bounded coarse variation" is a generalization of the classical bounded variation in the sense of Jordan. In Chapter 5, we will examine in depth such class in the more general case of modular spaces.

27

Chapter 3

Nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators

In this and the succeeding chapters, the focus is on the study of the so-called *non-linear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators*, which have been introduced in the one dimensional version in [78], and subsequently, they have been extended in the multidimensional setting in [47].

This kind of operator represents an averaged version, in Kantorovich-sense, of the nonlinear generalized sampling operators, where, instead of the sampling values $f(\underline{k}/w)$, one has an average of f in a *n*-dimensional interval containing \underline{k}/w . This approach allows to reduce the so-called *time-jitter error*, that occurs in signal processing when the sampling values can not be matched exactly at the node, but in a neighborhood of it. In practise, more information is frequently known around a point than at the point itself.

In the present chapter, we show a pointwise and uniform approximation result (Theorem 3.2.1), and a convergence theorem (Theorem 3.3.4) in the setting of Orlicz spaces, in order to cover also the case of not necessarily continuous functions. Convergence results in L^p -spaces, interpolation spaces and exponential spaces follow as particular cases. Several examples of kernels and graphical representations are finally provided in Section 3.5.

3.1 Definitions and preliminary assumptions

Let $\Pi^n = (t_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$ be a sequence of vectors defined by $t_{\underline{k}} = (t_{k_1}, \dots, t_{k_n})$, where each $(t_{k_i})_{k_i \in \mathbb{Z}}, i = 1, \dots, n$, is a sequence of real numbers with $-\infty < t_{k_i} < t_{k_i+1} < +\infty$, $\lim_{k_i \to \pm \infty} t_{k_i} = \pm \infty$, for every $i = 1, \dots, n$ and such that there exist $\Delta, \delta > 0$ for
which $\delta \leq \Delta_{k_i} := t_{k_i+1} - t_{k_i} \leq \Delta$, for every $i = 1, \dots, n$. Moreover, we denote by

$$R_{\underline{k}}^{w} := \left[\frac{t_{k_{1}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{1}+1}}{w}\right] \times \left[\frac{t_{k_{2}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{2}+1}}{w}\right] \times \dots \times \left[\frac{t_{k_{n}}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_{n}+1}}{w}\right],$$

with w > 0, the *n*-dimensional intervals of \mathbb{R}^n identified by the sequence $\Pi^n = (t_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}$. We note that the Lebesgue measure of $R_{\underline{k}}^w$ is given by $A_{\underline{k}}/w^n$, where $A_{\underline{k}} := \Delta_{k_1} \cdot \Delta_{k_2} \cdots \Delta_{k_n}$.

A function $\chi : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ will be called *kernel* (for the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators) if it satisfies the following conditions

- $(\chi 1) \ \left(\chi(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}},u)\right)_k \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n), \, \text{for every} \ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \, u \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } w > 0;$
- $(\chi 2) \ \chi(\underline{x}, 0) = 0$, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$;
- $(\chi 3) \ \chi$ is an (L, ψ) -Lipschitz kernel, i.e., there exist a measurable function $L : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^+_0$ and a φ -function $\psi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$|\chi(\underline{x}, u) - \chi(\underline{x}, v)| \le L(\underline{x})\psi(|u - v|),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$;

 $(\chi 4)$ there exists $\theta_0 > 0$ such that, for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and w > 0,

1.

$$\mathcal{S}_w^j(\underline{x}) := \sup_{0 \le |u| < \frac{1}{j}} \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, u \right) - u \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_0} \right),$$

2.

$$\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) := \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \left| \frac{1}{u} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, u \right) - 1 \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_0} \right),$$

as $w \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

The above assumptions are the same as those established in Section 2.3 for the nonlinear generalized operators, and we have wholly presented them, taking into account that the asset is not equally spaced this time. Concerning ($\chi 4$), we stress that such condition, in the present form, is new and can be obtained by the combination of the approximate singularity conditions considered in Section 2.3 and [18]. The choice of $(t_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}$ allows us to sample signals by an irregular sampling scheme. If $t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{k}, \ \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we proceed to the aforementioned uniform case.

T

Remark 3.1.1. In order to prove the convergence results contained in this chapter, it would be sufficient to weaken condition $(\chi 4)$, requiring instead that, for every $j \in \mathbb{N},$

$$\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) = \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u| \le j} \left| \frac{1}{u} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi\left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, u \right) - 1 \right| \to 0,$$

as $w \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, as done in Section 2.3, see [47].

Moreover, we assume that the function L of condition $(\chi 3)$ satisfies the following additional assumptions

- (L1) $L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and is bounded in a neighborhood of $\underline{0} \in \mathbb{R}^n$;
- (L2) there exists a number $\beta_0 > 0$ such that

$$m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) := \sup_{\underline{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left\| \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2^{\beta_0} < +\infty,$$

i.e., the discrete absolute moment of order β_0 is finite.

Now, we can introduce the following family of nonlinear operators.

Definition 3.1.2. The nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators for a given kernel χ are defined by

$$(K_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right), \quad \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Remark 3.1.3. Note that, if $\chi(\underline{x}, u) := L(\underline{x}) u$, where L satisfies the conditions (L1) and (L2), the operators $K_w f$ reduce to the linear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators considered in [48]. In such case, conditions 1. and 2. of $(\chi 4)$ become

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x}) &= \sup_{0 \leq |u| < \frac{1}{j}} \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) u - u \right| = \sup_{0 \leq |u| < \frac{1}{j}} |u| \cdot \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) - 1 \right| \\ &< \frac{1}{j} \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) - 1 \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_{0}}\right), \end{split}$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x}) = \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \left| \frac{1}{u} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) u - 1 \right| = \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) - 1 \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_{0}}\right),$$

as $w \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, for some $\theta_0 > 0$, that is we deal with the linear case. In the general theory of sampling type operators, a slightly stronger condition is required, that is

$$\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) = 1, \tag{3.1}$$

for every $\underline{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If (3.1) holds, condition ($\chi 4$) turns out to be satisfied for every $\theta_0 > 0$. When the uniform spaced sequence $t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{k}$ is considered and L is continuous, it is well known that (3.1) is equivalent to

$$\widehat{L}(2\pi\underline{k}) := \begin{cases} 0, & \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n \setminus \{\underline{0}\}, \\ 1, & \underline{k} = \underline{0}, \end{cases}$$

where $\widehat{L}(\underline{v}) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L(\underline{u}) e^{-i\underline{v}\cdot\underline{u}} d\underline{u}, \ \underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denotes the Fourier transform of L (see, e.g., [31]). Such condition is known in literature with the name of Strang-Fix type condition.

Now, we recall the following lemma that will be useful in the next sections and in the next chapter, too. For a proof, the reader can refer to [46].

Lemma 3.1.4. Let L be a function satisfying conditions (L1) and (L2). We have

(i)
$$m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) := \sup_{\underline{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) < +\infty;$$

(ii) for every $\gamma > 0$

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \sum_{\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_{2} > \gamma w} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) = 0,$$

uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$;

(iii) for every $\gamma > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\int_{\|\underline{x}\|_2 > M} w^n L(w\underline{x} - t\underline{k}) d\underline{x} < \varepsilon,$$

for sufficiently large w > 0 and all the elements $t_{\underline{k}}$ such that $||t_{\underline{k}}||_2 \leq \gamma w$.

Remark 3.1.5. (a) If we assume that $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by conditions (χ^2) , (χ^3) and by (i) of Lemma 3.1.4, we obtain that $(K_w f)_{w>0}$ are well-defined. In fact, it turns out that

$$\begin{aligned} |(K_w f)(\underline{x})| &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &\leq m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) < +\infty, \end{aligned}$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0.

- (b) Instead of assuming that function L is bounded in a neighborhood of $\underline{0} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and that $m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$, one can explicitly assume that for L the properties (i) and (ii) of Lemma 3.1.4 hold.
- (c) In the particular case of the equally spaced sequence $t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{k}, \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, one can replace the condition $m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$ and the boundedness assumption upon L by

$$\sup_{\underline{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n}\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}L(\underline{x}-\underline{k})<+\infty,$$

where the convergence of the series is uniform on compact sets.

In the next sections, we show some results of convergence for the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators obtained in [47].

3.2 Pointwise and uniform convergence

Theorem 3.2.1. Let $f \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} (K_w f)(\underline{x}) = f(\underline{x}).$$

Moreover, if $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \left\| K_w f - f \right\|_{\infty} = 0.$$

Proof. We prove only the first part of the theorem, since the second one can be obtained by similar arguments. Let $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be fixed. We estimate the error of

approximation $|(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|$, obtaining by $(\chi 3)$

$$\begin{split} |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &=: I_1 + I_2. \end{split}$$

We estimate I_1 . By the continuity of f at \underline{x} , for every fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that $|f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| < \varepsilon$ whenever $||\underline{u} - \underline{x}||_2 \leq \gamma$. Now, we split I_1 into two additional summands, namely $I_1 = I_{1,1} + I_{1,2}$, where

$$I_{1,1} := \sum_{\left\| w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le \frac{\gamma w}{2}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u}\right),$$

and

$$I_{1,2} := \sum_{\left\| w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_{2} > \frac{\gamma w}{2}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u}\right).$$

For every $\underline{u} \in R_{\underline{k}}^w \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, if $\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \leq \frac{\gamma w}{2}$, we have

$$\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\|_2 \le \left\|\underline{u} - \frac{t_k}{w}\right\|_2 + \left\|\frac{t_k}{w} - \underline{x}\right\|_2 \le \frac{\Delta\sqrt{n}}{w} + \frac{\gamma}{2} \le \gamma,$$

since we can choose w > 0 sufficiently large to satisfy $\frac{\Delta\sqrt{n}}{w} \leq \frac{\gamma}{2}$. Hence,

$$I_{1,1} \leq \sum_{\left\|\underline{w}\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq \frac{\gamma w}{2}} L(\underline{w}\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}\varepsilon \,d\underline{u}\right) \leq m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\,\psi(\varepsilon),$$

for sufficiently large w > 0. For $I_{1,2}$, there holds

$$I_{1,2} \le \psi(2 \|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} > \frac{\gamma w}{2}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}).$$

By (ii) of Lemma 3.1.4, it follows that $I_{1,2} \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary and ψ is continuous, then $I_1 \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$. Now, we estimate I_2 . Let $A_j := \{\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : 0 \leq f(\underline{x}) < 1/j\}$, with $j \in \mathbb{N}$ fixed, taking into account condition (χ^2) , we can rewrite I_2 as follows

$$I_{2} \leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right|$$

+
$$\left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}} \right| + |f(\underline{x})| \mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x})$$

$$=: I_{2,1} + I_{2,2}.$$

It is clear that $I_{2,1} \leq S_w^j(\underline{x})$ and $I_{2,2} \leq ||f||_{\infty} \mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x})$, hence using $(\chi 4)$ we have that $I_2 \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$ uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. This concludes the proof.

3.3 Modular convergence in Orlicz spaces

Now, in order to obtain approximation results for not necessarily continuous functions, we work in the general setting of Orlicz spaces. From now on, we always consider Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ generated by convex φ -functions φ . In order to obtain a modular convergence theorem in Orlicz spaces, we firstly test the modular convergence in $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Remark 3.3.1. We can observe that, if $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists a positive constant $\overline{\gamma}$ such that supp $f \subset B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma})$. Let $\gamma > \overline{\gamma} + \Delta$, we have

$$\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) \, d\underline{u} = 0,$$

for every $t_{\underline{k}} \notin B(\underline{0}, w\gamma)$, being $R_{\underline{k}}^w \cap B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma}) = \emptyset$ for sufficiently large w > 0. Then, using condition ($\chi 2$), the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operator of f reduces to the finite sum

$$(K_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0.

So, the following Luxemburg-norm convergence theorem can be stated.

Theorem 3.3.2. Let φ be a convex φ -function. For every $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\lambda > 0$, there holds

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi} \left[\lambda \left(K_w f - f \right) \right] = 0.$$

Proof. We have to prove that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi} \left[\lambda \left(K_w f - f \right) \right] = \lim_{w \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\lambda \left| (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{x} = 0,$$

for every $\lambda > 0$, which is equivalent to show that the sequence $(\varphi (\lambda | K_w f - f|))_{w>0}$ converges to zero in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for every $\lambda > 0$. In order to do this, it suffices to verify that conditions (i), (ii) and (iii) of the Vitali convergence theorem (Theorem 1.1.26), for p = 1 hold.

Let now $\lambda > 0$ be fixed.

(i) Let $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By Theorem 3.2.1 and the continuity of φ , it is easy to see that $\lim_{w\to+\infty} \varphi(\lambda \|K_w f - f\|_{\infty}) = 0$, for every $\lambda > 0$. Then, for every fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\overline{w} > 0$ such that for every $w \ge \overline{w}$, we have

$$\varphi\left(\lambda\left|(K_wf)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})\right|\right) \le \varphi\left(\lambda\left\|K_wf - f\right\|_{\infty}\right) < \varepsilon,$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. So,

$$\mu\left(\{\underline{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n\ :\ \varphi\left(\lambda\left|(K_wf)(\underline{x})-f(\underline{x})\right|\right)>\varepsilon\}\right)=\mu\left(\emptyset\right)=0,$$

for every $w \geq \overline{w}$. It follows that $(\varphi (\lambda | K_w f - f|))_{w>0}$ converges in measure to zero. (*ii*) Let now $\varepsilon > 0$ be fixed and let $\gamma, \overline{\gamma} > 0$ be as in Remark 3.3.1, i.e., such that supp $f \subset B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma})$ and $\gamma > \overline{\gamma} + \Delta$. By Lemma 3.1.4 (*iii*), there exists a constant M > 0 (we can assume $M > \overline{\gamma}$ without any loss of generality), such that

$$\int_{\|\underline{x}\|_2 > M} w^n L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{x} < \varepsilon,$$

for sufficiently large w > 0 and $||t_{\underline{k}}||_2 \le w\gamma$. Then, by using Jensen inequality and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, it follows

$$\int_{\|\underline{x}\|_{2} > M} \varphi(\lambda|(K_{w}f)(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} \leq \int_{\|\underline{x}\|_{2} > M} \varphi\left(\lambda \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} \left|\chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u}\right)\right|\right) d\underline{x}$$

$$\begin{split} &\leq \int_{\|\underline{x}\|_{2} > M} \varphi \left(\lambda \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\|\underline{x}\|_{2} > M} \varphi \left(\lambda \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\|f\|_{\infty} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} \frac{\varphi(\lambda m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \psi \left(\|f\|_{\infty} \right))}{w^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\|\underline{x}\|_{2} > M} w^{n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{x} \\ &< \varepsilon \cdot \frac{\varphi(\lambda m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \psi \left(\|f\|_{\infty} \right))}{w^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \cdot G, \end{split}$$

where G > 0 represents the number of terms of the above sum in fact corresponding to the number of $t_{\underline{k}}/w$ belonging to $B(\underline{0}, \gamma)$. For every $w \ge 1$, we can estimate Gas follows

$$G \leq \left(2\left(\left[\frac{\gamma w}{\delta}\right]+1\right)\right)^n = 2^n \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n}{i} \left[\frac{\gamma w}{\delta}\right]^{n-i} = 2^n w^n \left(\left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^n + n \left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^{n-1} \frac{1}{w} + \dots + \frac{1}{w^n}\right)$$
$$\leq w^n \left\{2^n \left(\left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^n + n \left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^{n-1} + \dots + 1\right)\right\} =: w^n \cdot P,$$

where $[\cdot]$ denotes the integer part. Thus,

$$\int_{\|\underline{x}\|_2 > M} \varphi(\lambda|(K_w f)(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} < \varepsilon \cdot \frac{\varphi(\lambda m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}))}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \cdot P =: \varepsilon \cdot C,$$

for every $w \ge 1$. Therefore, for $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a set $E_{\varepsilon} = B(\underline{0}, M)$ such that for every measurable set F, with $F \cap E_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$, we have

$$\int_{F} \varphi(\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) |) d\underline{x} = \int_{F} \varphi(\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) |) d\underline{x}$$
$$\leq \int_{\|\underline{x}\|_2 > M} \varphi(\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) |) d\underline{x} < \varepsilon \cdot C.$$

(*iii*) Finally, let $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a measurable set with $\mu(B) < \varepsilon/\tau$, where

$$\tau := \max\{\varphi(2\lambda m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})), \varphi(2\lambda \|f\|_{\infty})\},\$$

 $\|f\|_{\infty} \neq 0$. Using Remark 3.1.5 (a), in correspondence to $\varepsilon > 0$ and for every w > 0,

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} \varphi(\lambda | (K_{w}f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{B} \varphi(2\lambda | (K_{w}f)(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{B} \varphi(2\lambda | f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{B} \varphi(2\lambda m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})) d\underline{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{B} \varphi(2\lambda \|f\|_{\infty}) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{B} \tau \, d\underline{x} = \mu(B) \, \tau < \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

It follows that the integrals $\int_{(\cdot)} \varphi(\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) |) d\underline{x}$ are equi-absolutely continuous, and the proof is complete.

Now, we want to state a modular continuity property for the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators in the setting of Orlicz spaces.

We pointed out in Remark 3.1.5 (a) that K_w maps $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In [46] it is shown that for linear Kantorovich sampling operators an analogous property holds for the space $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, i.e., they map $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into itself. However, this property does not hold in the nonlinear case. So, for our operators to be well-defined in $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we must once again require the growth condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , recalled in Section 2.3. In particular, if φ satisfies condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , then K_w maps $L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 3.3.3. Let φ be a convex φ -function satisfying condition (H_{φ}) with η convex. Then, for any $f, g \in L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exist $\lambda \in (0,1)$ and a constant c > 0 such that

$$I^{\varphi}[c(K_wf - K_wg)] \le \frac{\|L\|_1}{\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} I^{\eta}[\lambda(f-g)]$$

Proof. Let $f, g \in L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, by applying condition $(\chi 3)$, we have

$$\begin{split} |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - (K_w g)(\underline{x})| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} g(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right). \end{split}$$

Since $f - g \in L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists $\lambda > 0$ (that can be considered $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ without any loss of generality) such that $I^{\eta}[\lambda(f-g)] < +\infty$. Then, we can choose c > 0 such that $c m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \leq C_{\lambda}$, where $C_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$ is the parameter arising from condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) .

Therefore, applying Jensen inequality twice and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, together with the change of variable $w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{u}$, we get

$$\begin{split} I^{\varphi}[c(K_{w}f - K_{w}g)] &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi(c|(K_{w}f)(\underline{x}) - (K_{w}g)(\underline{x})|)d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi\left(c\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right)\right)d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)}\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \varphi\left(c\,m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right)\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}})d\underline{x} \end{split}$$

$$\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{w^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \varphi \left(C_{\lambda} \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right) \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{w^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \eta \left(\lambda \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{w^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \eta \left(\lambda |f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})| \right) d\underline{u}$$

$$\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{\delta^{n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} I^{\eta} [\lambda(f-g)].$$

The proof is now complete.

As a consequence of Theorem 3.3.3 (for $g \equiv 0$), we have that K_w maps $L^{\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for every w > 0. Finally, we may state the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 3.3.4. Let φ be a convex φ -function satisfying condition (H_{φ}) with η convex. If $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi}[c(K_w f - f)] = 0.$$

Proof. Let $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By the density theorem (Theorem 1.1.15), there exists a $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ such that, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a function $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $I^{\varphi+\eta}[\lambda(f-g)] < \varepsilon$. Now, we can fix a constant c > 0 such that

$$c \leq \min\left\{\frac{C_{\lambda}}{3m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}, \frac{\lambda}{3}\right\},$$

where C_{λ} is the constant of condition (H_{\varphi}). By Theorem 3.3.3 and the properties of the modular I^{φ} , we can write

$$I^{\varphi}[c(K_w f - f)] \leq I^{\varphi}[3c(K_w f - K_w g)] + I^{\varphi}[3c(K_w g - g)] + I^{\varphi}[3c(f - g)]$$

$$\leq \frac{\|L\|_1}{\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} I^{\eta}[\lambda(f - g)] + I^{\varphi}[\lambda(K_w g - g)] + I^{\varphi}[\lambda(f - g)].$$

Let $\kappa := \max\left\{\frac{\|L\|_1}{\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}, 1\right\}$, we have

$$I^{\varphi}[c(K_w f - f)] \leq \kappa I^{\varphi + \eta}[\lambda(f - g)] + I^{\varphi}[\lambda(K_w g - g)]$$
$$\leq \kappa \varepsilon + I^{\varphi}[\lambda(K_w g - g)].$$

The assertions follows from Theorem 3.3.2.

3.4 Applications to particular cases of Orlicz spaces

We will now apply the convergence results obtained in Section 3.3 to some special case of Orlicz spaces.

Let $\varphi(u) = u^p$, $1 \leq p < +\infty$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$, and we consider the Orlicz space generated by such φ . As shown in Section 1.1.2, the modular I^{φ} coincides with $\|\cdot\|_p^p$ and $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If we choose the function ψ of condition (χ 3) equal to $\psi(u) = u$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$, (i.e., χ satisfies a strong Lipschitz condition), we have that φ satisfies condition (\mathbb{H}_{φ}) with $\eta(u) = u^p$ and $C_{\lambda} = \lambda$. It means that the operators K_w map the whole space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into itself and it follows the proposition below.

Proposition 3.4.1. For every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \le p < +\infty$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \|K_w f - f\|_p = 0.$$

Moreover, there holds

$$\|K_w f\|_p \le \delta^{-n/p} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^{(p-1)/p} \|L\|_1^{1/p} \|f\|_p.$$

If the function ψ of condition $(\chi 3)$ is $\psi(u) = u^{q/p}$, $1 \leq q \leq p < +\infty$, instead, condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) turns out to be satisfied with $\eta(u) = u^q$ and $C_{\lambda} = \lambda^{q/p}$. We obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 3.4.2. Let $1 \le q \le p < +\infty$ and φ , ψ as above. Then

$$\|K_w f\|_p \le \delta^{-n/p} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^{(p-1)/p} \|L\|_1^{1/p} \|f\|_q^{q/p},$$

for every $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $K_w : L^q(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are well-defined. Moreover, for every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \|K_w f - f\|_p = 0.$$

Other important spaces in the applications are the so-called interpolation spaces (see Example 1.1.27), generated by the convex φ -functions $\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(u) := u^{\alpha} \log^{\beta}(e+u)$, $u \ge 0, \alpha \ge 1, \beta > 0$. The corresponding modular functional is given by

$$I^{\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}}[f] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{x})|^{\alpha} \log^{\beta}(e + |f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x},$$

and $L^{\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Now, choosing $\psi(u) = u$, we obtain for the interpolation spaces that $c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is again satisfied for $\eta(u) = \varphi_{\alpha,\beta}(u)$ and $C_{\lambda} = \lambda$, i.e., $K_w : L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proposition 3.4.3. For every $f \in L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $\alpha \geq 1$ and $\beta > 0$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \|K_w f - f\|_{L^{\alpha} \log^{\beta} L} = 0.$$

Moreover, for every $\lambda > 0$

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(K_w f)(\underline{x})|^{\alpha} \log^{\beta}(e+\lambda |(K_w f)(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|_1}{\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^{1-\alpha}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{x})|^{\alpha} \log^{\beta}(e+\lambda m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)|f(\underline{x})|) d\underline{x}, \end{split}$$

Finally, we consider the case of the exponential spaces (see, again, Example 1.1.27), generated by the convex φ -function $\varphi_{\gamma}(u) := e^{u^{\gamma}} - 1$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$ for $\gamma > 0$. The modular functional generated by φ_{γ} is of the following form

$$I^{\varphi_{\gamma}}[f] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\exp(|f(\underline{x})|^{\gamma}) - 1) d\underline{x}.$$

If we set $\psi(u) = u$, condition (\mathbf{H}_{φ}) is fulfilled for $\eta(u) = \varphi_{\gamma}(u)$ and $C_{\lambda} = \lambda$, i.e., $K_w : L^{\varphi_{\gamma}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^{\varphi_{\gamma}}(\mathbb{R}^n).$

Proposition 3.4.4. For every $f \in L^{\varphi_{\gamma}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $\gamma > 0$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\exp(\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x})|^{\gamma}) - 1) d\underline{x} \le \frac{\|L\|_1}{\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\exp(\lambda m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) | f(\underline{x})|^{\gamma}) - 1)) d\underline{x},$$

for every $\lambda > 0$. Moreover, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\exp(\lambda |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|)^{\gamma} - 1) d\underline{x} = 0.$$

It is cleat that, taking $\psi(u) \neq 0$, one can furnish some estimates and convergence results analogous to Proposition 3.4.2 for the operators $K_w f$ in the interpolation spaces and in the exponential ones.

3.5 Examples of kernels

In this section, we discuss about a suitable procedure in order to construct examples of kernels for the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators. In general, we consider kernel functions of the form

$$\chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, u) = L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) g_w(u),$$

where $(g_w)_{w>0}, g_w : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a family of functions satisfying $g_w(u) \to u$ uniformly as $w \to +\infty$ and such that there exists a φ -function ψ with

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| \le \psi(|u - v|), \tag{3.2}$$

for every $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$ and w > 0.

For a sake of clarity, all the assumptions made in Section 3.1 on χ and L can be summarized as follows

 $(\mathcal{L}1) \left(L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right)_{\underline{k}} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $w > 0, L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is bounded in a neighborhood of $\underline{0} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and there exists a number $\beta_0 > 0$ such that

$$m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) := \sup_{\underline{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left\| \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2^{\beta_0} < +\infty;$$

 $(\mathcal{L}2) g_w(0) = 0$, for every w > 0;

 $(\mathcal{L}3)$ there exists $\theta_0 > 0$ such that, for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and w > 0

T

$$\mathcal{S}_w^j(\underline{x}) := \sup_{0 \le |u| < \frac{1}{j}} \left| g_w(u) \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) - u \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_0}\right),$$

2.

$$\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) := \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \left| \frac{g_w(u)}{u} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right) - 1 \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-\theta_0}\right),$$

ı.

as $w \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Example 3.5.1 (see, e.g., [36,78]). An example of family $(g_w)_{w>0}$ satisfying all the above assumptions is defined by

$$g_w(u) = \begin{cases} u^{1-1/w}, & \text{if } a < u < 1, \\ u, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

with 0 < a < 1/e (see, Figure 3.1). It is easy to see that $g_w(u) \to u$ uniformly on \mathbb{R} , as $w \to +\infty$. Note that if the function L satisfies condition (3.1), assumption (\mathcal{L} 3) holds for $\theta_0 = 1$. In fact, the function $g_w(u) - u$ on (a, 1) achieves the maximum at $u_0 := \left(\frac{w-1}{w}\right)^w$ for sufficiently large w > 0, $g_w(u) - u = 0$ otherwise, then for every $u \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|g_w(u) - u| \le |g_w(u_0) - u_0| = \left(\frac{w - 1}{w}\right)^w \left(\frac{1}{w - 1}\right) \le \frac{C}{w - 1},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, and for a suitable positive constant C. Then

$$S_w^j(\underline{x}) = \sup_{0 \le |u| < \frac{1}{j}} |g_w(u) - u| \le \frac{C}{w - 1} = \mathcal{O}(w^{-1}),$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x}) = \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \left| \frac{g_{w}(u)}{u} - 1 \right| = \sup_{u \in (a,1)} \frac{1}{|u|} \cdot |g_{w}(u) - u| \le a^{-1} \cdot \frac{C}{w-1} = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-1}\right)$$

as $w \to +\infty$.

and



Figure 3.1: Graph of $g_w(u)$ for different values of w and a = 1/100.

Moreover, the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition turns out to be satisfied with a piecewise concave function $\psi : \mathbb{R}_0^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as follows

$$\psi(u) := g_2|_{\mathbb{R}^+_0}(u) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{u}, & \text{if } a < u < 1, \\ u, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

then condition (3.2) holds for sufficiently large w > 0. In details, for every $w \ge 2$, if we consider $u, v \ge 1$, or $u, v \le a$, with $|u - v| \ge 1$, we have

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = |u - v| = \psi(|u - v|);$$

if we consider $u, v \ge 1$, or $u, v \le a$, with $|u - v| \in (a, 1)$, we obtain

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = |u - v| \le \sqrt{|u - v|} = \psi(|u - v|);$$

if we consider $u, v \in (a, 1)$ with $|u - v| \in (a, 1)$, and since g_w is concave on (a, 1), we can write

$$g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = |u^{1-1/w} - v^{1-1/w}| \le |u - v|^{1-1/w} \le \sqrt{|u - v|} = \psi(|u - v|);$$

if we take $u \in (a, 1), v \ge 1$ (or conversely) with $|u - v| \ge 1$, we get

$$|g_w(v) - g_w(u)| = v - u^{1-1/w} \le v - u = \psi(|u - v|);$$

finally, if we assume $u \in (a, 1), v \ge 1$ (or conversely) with $|u - v| \in (a, 1)$, we obtain

$$|g_w(v) - g_w(u)| = v - u^{1-1/w} \le v - u \le (v - u)^{1-1/w} \le \sqrt{|u - v|} = \psi(|u - v|).$$

If instead $g_w(u) \equiv u, u \in \mathbb{R}$, for every w > 0, the function ψ corresponding to $\chi(\underline{x}, u) = L(\underline{x}) u$ is $\psi(u) = u$, therefore we reduce again to the linear case already studied in [8]. For a sake of simplicity, in what follows, we will consider only the case of the uniform sequence $t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{k}, \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

In general, it is not easy to verify if a function L satisfies conditions $(\mathcal{L}1)$ and $(\mathcal{L}3)$. A possible approach to define suitable examples of functions L is to consider functions which are *n*-fold products of univariate functions satisfying suitable properties. For instance, let $L_1, L_2, \dots, L_n \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ such that

$$m_{0,\Pi}(L_i) := \sup_{u \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} L_i(u-k) < +\infty,$$

where $\Pi = (k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and the convergence of the series is uniform on compact series of \mathbb{R} . Moreover, we assume that $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} L_i(u-k) = 1$, for every $u \in \mathbb{R}$ and $i = 1, \dots, n$. Setting $L(\underline{u}) := \prod_{i=1}^n L_i(u_i)$, we obtain that $L \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n L_i(u_i) du_1 \cdots du_n = \prod_{i=1}^n \int_{\mathbb{R}} L_i(u_i) du_i < +\infty,$$

and

$$m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) = \sup_{\underline{u}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{u}-\underline{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^n m_{0,\Pi}(L_i) < +\infty,$$

and the convergence is uniform on compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^n ; hence condition ($\mathcal{L}1$) holds. Furthermore,

$$\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} L(\underline{u}-\underline{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^n \sum_{k_i\in\mathbb{Z}} L_i(u_i-k_i) = 1,$$

for every $\underline{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then condition ($\mathcal{L}3$) is satisfied, taking into account that $g_w(u) \to u$, uniformly as $w \to +\infty$.

A first typical example of nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators of the above type is based on the multivariate Fejér kernel $\mathcal{F}_n(\underline{x}) := \prod_{i=1}^n F(x_i)$ (see, Figure 3.2), where F is the well-known Fejér kernel of one variable

$$F(x) := \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{sinc}^2\left(\frac{x}{2}\right), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Furthermore, the Fourier transform of F is given by

$$\widehat{F}(v) := \begin{cases} 1 - \left| \frac{v}{\pi} \right|, & |v| \le \pi, \\ 0, & |v| > \pi. \end{cases}$$

Figure 3.2: Bivariate Fejér kernel \mathcal{F}_2 .

The multivariate Féjer kernel \mathcal{F}_n plays now the role of the function L. Clearly, we have that \mathcal{F}_n is continuous, non-negative and bounded, belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and satisfies all the other required conditions. In particular, it is possible to see that (3.1) holds in view of the Strang-Fix condition recalled in Remark 3.1.3. In this case, we can assume

$$\chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, u) := \mathcal{F}_n(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}) g_w(u),$$

and therefore, condition ($\mathcal{L}3$) is obviously satisfied as $w \to +\infty$, for some $\theta_0 > 0$. The corresponding nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators take now the following form

$$(K_w^{\mathcal{F}_n}f)(\underline{x}) = \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \mathcal{F}_n(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}) g_w\left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right),$$

for every w > 0, where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Now, in order to support the theory through graphical examples, let's consider several operators based on specific kernels that we will apply to a particular discontinuous function. For instance, we take $(g_w)_{w>0}$ defined as in Example 3.5.1 and we apply the nonlinear sampling operators $K_w^{\mathcal{F}_2}$ to a function $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)$, $1 \le p < +\infty$, defined by (Figure 3.3)

$$f(x,y) = \begin{cases} 3, & -1 \le x \le 1 \text{ and } -1 \le y \le 1, \\ \frac{6}{x^2 + y^2}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.3)



Figure 3.3: Graph of the function f.

The two-dimensional nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators for the function f defined in (3.3) in case of w = 5 and w = 10 are given in Figure 3.4 (in an octant of the plane).



Figure 3.4: The function f (gray) with the bivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators $K_5^{\mathcal{F}_2}f$ (purple) and $K_{10}^{\mathcal{F}_2}f$ (azure).

Another useful class of kernels is given by the so-called Jackson type kernels of order $s \in \mathbb{N}$, defined in the univariate case by

$$J_s(x) := c_s \operatorname{sinc}^{2s} \left(\frac{x}{2s\pi\alpha}\right), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

with $\alpha \geq 1$ and c_s is a non-zero normalization coefficient, given by

$$c_s := \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{sinc}^{2s} \left(\frac{u}{2s\pi\alpha} \right) du \right]^-$$

The multivariate Jackson type kernel is given by the *n*-fold product of the corresponding univariate function, $\mathcal{J}_s^n(\underline{x}) = \prod_{i=1}^n J_s(x_i), \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ (see, Figure 3.5). It is easy to prove that all the required assumptions are satisfied and the corresponding multivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators are given by

$$(K_w^{\mathcal{J}_s^n}f)(\underline{x}) = \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \mathcal{J}_s^n(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}) g_w\left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w}f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right),$$

for every w > 0, where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.



Figure 3.5: Bivariate Jackson kernel \mathcal{J}_2^3 , with $\alpha = 1$.

As before, in order to give a graphical representation also in this case, we plot the function f, the operators $K_5^{\mathcal{J}_2}f$ and $K_{10}^{\mathcal{J}_2}f$ all together in a same octant of the plane (Figure 3.6).

For what concerns examples of function L with compact support, we can consider the well-known central B-spline (univariate) of order $s \in \mathbb{N}$, defined by

$$M_s(x) := \frac{1}{(s-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{s} (-1)^j \binom{s}{j} \left(\frac{s}{2} + x - j\right)_+^{s-1}$$

where $x_+ := \max\{x, 0\}$ is the positive part of x. The Fourier transform of M_s is given by

$$\widehat{M}_s(v) = \operatorname{sinc}^s\left(\frac{v}{2\pi}\right), \quad v \in \mathbb{R},$$

Nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators



Figure 3.6: The function f (gray) with the bivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators $K_5^{\mathcal{J}_2} f$ (purple) and $K_{10}^{\mathcal{J}_2} f$ (azure).

and then, we have $\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} M_s(u-k) = 1$, for every $u \in \mathbb{R}$, by Remark 3.1.3, and therefore, condition (\mathcal{L} 3) is again satisfied. Obviously, each M_n is bounded on \mathbb{R} , with compact support on [-s/2, s/2], and hence $M_s \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, for all $s \in \mathbb{N}$, with $\|M_s\|_1 = 1$. Further, condition (1) is fulfilled for every $\beta_0 > 0$. Thus we can define the multivariate central B-spline of order s, as follows

$$\mathcal{M}_s^n(\underline{x}) := \prod_{i=1}^n M_s(x_i), \quad \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

So, setting

$$\chi(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}, u) := \mathcal{M}_s^n(w\underline{x} - \underline{k}) g_w(u),$$

the corresponding multivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators are given by

$$(K_w^{\mathcal{M}_s^n}f)(\underline{x}) = \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \mathcal{M}_s^n(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}) g_w\left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right),$$

for every w > 0, where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Let's now consider the particular case s = 3. First, we recall that the B-spline M_3 (see, Figure 3.7) is given by

$$M_{3}(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{3}{4} - x^{2}, & |x| \leq \frac{1}{2}, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{3}{2} - |x|\right)^{2}, & \frac{1}{2} < |x| \leq \frac{3}{2}, \\ 0, & |x| > \frac{3}{2}, \end{cases}$$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}$.



Figure 3.7: Bivariate B-spline kernel \mathcal{M}_3^2 .

The two-dimensional nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators generated by \mathcal{M}_3^2 applied to the function f defined in (3.3), in case of w = 5 and w = 10, are displayed together in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8: The function f (gray) with the bivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators $K_5^{\mathcal{M}_3^2} f$ (purple) and $K_{10}^{\mathcal{M}_3^2} f$ (azure).

When the graphs of the nonlinear bivariate sampling Kantorovich operators generated by the spline kernels and the Féjer kernels are compared, it is clear that the approximation by the series based on the first is significantly better than the series based on the second (see, e.g, Figure 3.9). This means that, using the series $K_w^{\mathcal{M}_3^2}f$, a reasonable approximation can be obtained by taking into account fewer mean values of f than using the series $K_w^{\mathcal{F}_2}f$. Nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators



Figure 3.9: The function f (gray) with respectively $K_5^{\mathcal{F}_2}f$ (purple), $K_5^{\mathcal{M}_3^2}f$ (azure) and $K_{10}^{\mathcal{F}_2}f$ (purple), $K_{10}^{\mathcal{M}_3^2}f$ (azure).

One can also use, instead of M_3 , linear combination of univariate B-spline of different degree, such as

$$L_1(x) := 4M_3(x) - 3M_4(x), \quad L_2(x) := 5M_4(x) - 4M_5(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

 $x \in \mathbb{R}$, or linear combinations of translates of B-splines, e.g.,

$$L_3(x) := \frac{5}{4}M_3(x) - \frac{1}{8}\left(M_3(x+1) + M_3(x-1)\right), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

in order to construct examples of multivariate kernels improving the rate of approximation.

Lastly, we mention an example of non-product kernels, which can be of radial type, e.g., represented by the so-called Bochner-Riesz kernel of order s > 0, defined as follows

$$b_s^n(\underline{x}) := \frac{2^s}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^n}} \Gamma(s+1) \left\| \underline{x} \right\|_2^{-s-n/2} J_{s+n/2}(\left\| \underline{x} \right\|_2), \quad \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where J_{λ} is the Bessel function of order λ , with $\lambda > \frac{n-1}{2}$, and Γ is the usual Euler gamma function.

Since it is well-known that $J_{\lambda}(||\underline{x}||_2) = \mathcal{O}(||\underline{x}||_2^{-n/2})$, as $||\underline{x}||_2 \to +\infty$, hence $b_s^n(\underline{x}) = \mathcal{O}(||\underline{x}||_2^{-s-n})$, as $||\underline{x}||_2 \to +\infty$, then $b_s^n \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Its Fourier transform is given by

$$\hat{b_s^n}(\underline{v}) = \begin{cases} (1 - \|\underline{v}\|_2^2)^s, & \|\underline{v}\|_2 \le 1, \\ 0, & \|\underline{v}\|_2 > 1, \end{cases} \quad \underline{v} \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

namely, b_s^n is bandlimited (i.e., it belongs to the Bernstein class $B_1^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$). The corresponding nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators take the



Figure 3.10: Bivariate Bochner-Riesz kernel of order s = 1.

following form

$$(K_w^{b_s^n}f)(\underline{x}) = \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} b_s^n(w\underline{x}-\underline{k}) g_w\left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right),$$

for every w > 0, where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is a locally integrable function such that the above series is convergent for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Now, considering again the two-dimensional framework (n = 2), we take as L the bivariate Bochner-Riesz kernel of order s = 1 (see, Figure 3.10). Thus, we apply the corresponding bivariate operator $K_5^{b_1^2}f$ and $K_{10}^{b_1^2}f$ to the function f defined in (3.3), in the same octant of the plane (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11: The function f (gray) with the bivariate nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators $K_5^{b_1^2} f$ (purple) and $K_{10}^{b_1^2} f$ (azure).

Finally, for other examples of kernel functions we can refer to the wide existing literature, see, e.g. [6,7,37–40,52–54].

Chapter 4

Quantitative and qualitative estimates

In this chapter, we deal with the study of the order of approximation for the operators $K_w f$. The results that appear in the following sections are partially contained in [36].

Therefore, we prove some quantitative estimates for the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators in the multivariate setting using the modulus of smoothness of Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The general frame of Orlicz spaces allows us to deduce the corresponding estimates in L^p -spaces, $1 \leq p < +\infty$, interpolation spaces, exponential spaces and many others instances of Orlicz spaces. In the particular case of L^p -approximation, we can also proceed with the estimation of the aliasing error, by a direct proof.

However, quantitative estimates for $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ have not been investigated before; hence, Theorem 4.1.1 and Theorem 4.1.2 consist in new results still not published. The qualitative order of approximation is established for functions belonging to suitable Lipschitz classes.

4.1 Quantitative estimates in $C(\mathbb{R}^n)$

In order to establish quantitative estimates for the order of approximation of a family of nonlinear multivariate operators, we briefly recall some facts from Section 1.2.

For $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the modulus of continuity is given by

$$\omega(f,\delta) := \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \le \delta} |f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot)|,$$

with $\delta > 0$ (see Example 1.2.11).

Theorem 4.1.1. Let $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and let L be a function satisfying condition (L2) with $\beta_0 \geq 1$. Then, we have

$$||K_w f - f||_{\infty} \le M_1 \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right) + M_2 w^{-\theta_0} + M_3 ||f||_{\infty} w^{-\theta_0},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $M_1 := m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + \sqrt{n} \Delta m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + m_{1,\Pi^n}(L)$, $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$ and $M_2, M_3, \theta_0 > 0$ are the constants of condition ($\chi 4$).

Proof. Let $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be fixed. We have

$$\begin{split} |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| &= \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) \right| \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &= I_1 + I_2. \end{split}$$

We estimate I_1 . Applying condition ($\chi 3$) and taking into account that ψ is non decreasing, we get

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \omega(f, ||\underline{u} - \underline{x}||_{2}) d\underline{u} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) [1 + w ||\underline{u} - \underline{x}||_{2}] d\underline{u} \right) \\ &= \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \left[1 + \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} w ||\underline{u} - \underline{x}||_{2} d\underline{u} \right] \right), \end{split}$$

for every w > 0, where the previous estimate is a consequence of the well-known inequality $\omega(f, \lambda \delta) \leq (1 + \lambda)\omega(f, \delta)$, with $\lambda = w \|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\|_2$ and $\delta = \frac{1}{w}$. Now, for

every $\underline{x}, \underline{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we may write

$$\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\|_2 \le \left\|\underline{u} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right\|_2 + \left\|\frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w} - \underline{x}\right\|_2 \le \sqrt{n}\frac{\Delta}{w} + \frac{\left\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_2}{w},\tag{4.1}$$

for every w > 0; therefore

$$I_1 \leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi\left(\omega\left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right) \left[1 + \sqrt{n\Delta} + \left\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_2\right]\right).$$

Since ψ is concave, we have for $u\geq 1$

$$u\psi(v) = u\psi\left(\frac{1}{u} \cdot vu\right) \ge u\frac{1}{u}\psi(vu) = \psi(vu), \tag{4.2}$$

for every $v \ge 0$; consequently, we finally get

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[1 + \sqrt{n}\Delta + \left\| w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_{2} \right] \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right) \\ &\leq m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \left(1 + \sqrt{n}\Delta \right) \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right) + \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left\| w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_{2} \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right) \\ &\leq m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \left(1 + \sqrt{n}\Delta \right) \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right) + m_{1,\Pi^{n}}(L) \psi \left(\omega \left(f, \frac{1}{w} \right) \right). \end{split}$$
Now, we estimate L . Setting $A := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : 0 \leq |f(x)| \leq 1/i \}$, we can rewrite.

Now, we estimate I_2 . Setting $A_j := \{ \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : 0 \le |f(\underline{x})| < 1/j \}$, we can rewrite I_2 as follows

$$I_{2} = \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x}) \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})\mathbf{1}_{A_{j}}(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x})\mathbf{1}_{A_{j}}(\underline{x}) \right|$$

$$+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R} \setminus A_{j}}(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R} \setminus A_{j}}(\underline{x}) \right|.$$

Therefore, by condition ($\chi 4$), there exist constants $M_2, M_3, \theta_0 > 0$ such that

1

$$I_{2} \leq \mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x}) + |f(\underline{x})| \left| \frac{1}{|f(\underline{x})|} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R} \setminus A_{j}}(\underline{x})) - \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R} \setminus A_{j}}(\underline{x}) \right|$$

$$\leq M_{2}w^{-\theta_{0}} + |f(\underline{x})|\mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(x)$$

$$\leq M_{2}w^{-\theta_{0}} + |f(\underline{x})|M_{3}w^{-\theta_{0}}$$

$$\leq M_{2}w^{-\theta_{0}} + M_{3} ||f||_{\infty} w^{-\theta_{0}},$$

uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, for sufficiently large w > 0. This completes the proof.

It is important to underline that the estimate presented in Theorem 4.1.1 is valid only when the condition (L2) holds with β_0 being greater than or equal to one. However, there exists kernels for which the discrete absolute moments of order $\beta_0 \geq 1$ are not finite, but at the same time, condition (L2) is satisfied for some values $0 < \beta_0 < 1$. In such case, Theorem 4.1.1 cannot be applied. For this reason, we prove the following.

Theorem 4.1.2. Let $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and let L be a function satisfying condition (L2) with $0 < \beta_0 < 1$. Then, we have

$$\|K_w f - f\|_{\infty} \le M_4 \, \psi \left(\omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_0} \right) \right) + 2^{\beta_0 + 1} \, \psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) \, w^{-\beta_0} \, m_{\beta_0, \Pi^n}(L)$$

$$+ M_2 w^{-\theta_0} + M_3 \, \|f\|_{\infty} \, w^{-\theta_0},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $M_4 := m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) + n^{\beta_0/2} \Delta^{\beta_0} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$ and $M_2, M_3, \theta_0 > 0$ are the constants of condition ($\chi 4$).

Proof. Let $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be fixed. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.1.1, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| &\leq \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) \right| \\ &+ \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &= I_1 + I_2. \end{aligned}$$

It is clear that $I_2 \leq M_2 w^{-\theta_0} + M_3 ||f||_{\infty} w^{-\theta_0}$, where $M_2, M_3, \theta_0 > 0$ are the constants of condition ($\chi 4$). On the other hand, we split the series in I_1 as follows

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) - \chi (w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{\|w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u} \right) \end{split}$$

Quantitative and qualitative estimates

$$\begin{split} &+ \sum_{\left\| w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_{2} > w/2} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \, \psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} |f(\underline{u}) - f(\underline{x})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &=: I_{1,1} + I_{1,2}. \end{split}$$

Before estimating $I_{1,1}$, we observe that, for every $\underline{u} \in R_{\underline{k}}^w$, and if $\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w/2$ we have

$$\left\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\right\|_2 \le \left\|\underline{u} - \frac{t_k}{w}\right\|_2 + \left\|\frac{t_k}{w} - \underline{x}\right\|_2 \le \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w} + \frac{1}{2} \le 1,$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large, and moreover, since $0 < \beta_0 < 1$, it is also easy to see that

$$\omega\left(f, \left\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\right\|_{2}\right) \leq \omega\left(f, \left\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\right\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}}\right).$$

Hence, by using the property for which $\omega(f, \lambda \delta) \leq (1 + \lambda)\omega(f, \delta)$, with $\lambda = (w \|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\|_2)^{\beta_0}$ and $\delta = w^{-\beta_0}$, we get

$$\begin{split} I_{1,1} &\leq \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \omega \left(f, \|\underline{u}-\underline{x}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}}\right) d\underline{u}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} [w^{\beta_{0}} \|\underline{u}-\underline{x}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}}+1] \omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_{0}}\right) d\underline{u}\right) \\ &= \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\left[1+\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} w^{\beta_{0}} \|\underline{u}-\underline{x}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}} d\underline{u}\right] \omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_{0}}\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Since ψ is concave and then subadditive, by (4.2) we have

$$\begin{split} I_{1,1} &\leq \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[1 + \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} w^{\beta_{0}} \left\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\right\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}} d\underline{u}\right] \psi\left(\omega\left(f, w^{-\beta_{0}}\right)\right) \\ &\leq \psi\left(\omega\left(f, w^{-\beta_{0}}\right)\right) \sum_{\left\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\right\|_{2} \leq w/2} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} w^{\beta_{0}} \left\|\underline{u} - \underline{x}\right\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}} d\underline{u} \\ &+ m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \psi\left(\omega\left(f, w^{-\beta_{0}}\right)\right), \end{split}$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large. By using (4.1) and by exploiting the subadditivity of

the function $\|\cdot\|_2^{\beta_0}$, with $0 < \beta_0 < 1$, we can write

$$\begin{split} I_{1,1} &\leq \psi \left(\omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_0} \right) \right) \left[m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + \sum_{\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \leq w/2} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left(\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2^{\beta_0} + n^{\beta_0/2} \Delta^{\beta_0} \right) \right] \\ &\leq \psi \left(\omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_0} \right) \right) \left[m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + \sum_{\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \leq w/2} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2^{\beta_0} \right. \\ &+ n^{\beta_0/2} \Delta^{\beta_0} \sum_{\left\| w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \leq w/2} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right] \\ &\leq \psi \left(\omega \left(f, w^{-\beta_0} \right) \right) \left[m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) + n^{\beta_0/2} \Delta^{\beta_0} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \right]. \end{split}$$

Finally, for what concerns $I_{1,2}$ we have

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &\leq \psi(2 \, \|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} > w/2} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \\ &\leq \psi(2 \, \|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} > w/2} \frac{\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}}}{\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{2}{w}\right)^{\beta_{0}} \psi(2 \, \|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} > w/2} \|w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2}^{\beta_{0}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \\ &\leq 2^{\beta_{0}+1} \psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) w^{-\beta_{0}} m_{\beta_{0},\Pi^{n}}(L). \end{split}$$

Thus, the theorem is proved.

If we consider the multivariate Fejér kernel, defined as in Section 3.5, condition (L2) is satisfied only for every $\beta_0 < 1$ (then $m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) = +\infty$, for $\beta_0 \geq 1$); therefore, Theorem 4.1.1 cannot be applied, while Theorem 4.1.2 holds.

Remark 4.1.3. In general, it is possible to give a condition on the kernels which ensures that (*L*2) holds for $0 \leq \beta_0 < \nu$, for some $\nu < 1$, and $m_{\beta_0,\Pi^n}(L) = +\infty$, for $\nu < \beta_0 \leq 1$. In this regard, we refer the readers to [42].

Example 4.1.4. If we consider, for instance, the family $(g_w)_{w>0}$ defined in Example 3.5.1, the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition turns out to be satisfied with a function ψ that is only piecewise concave and not globally concave; hence the estimates of Theorem 4.1.1 and Theorem 4.1.2 can not be applied. On the contrary, an example of family $(g_w)_{w>0}$, for which Theorem 4.1.1 and Theorem 4.1.2 hold, is defined in [41] as

follows

$$g_w(u) = \begin{cases} u^{1+1/w}, & \text{if } 0 < u < 1, \\ u, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for w > 0 (see, Figure 4.1). It is easy to see that $g_w(u) \to u$ uniformly on \mathbb{R} , as $w \to +\infty$. In fact, the function $u - g_w(u)$ on (0, 1) achieves its maximum at $u_0 := \left(\frac{w}{w+1}\right)^w$ for sufficiently large w > 0 $(u - g_w(u) = 0$ otherwise), then for every $u \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|g_w(u) - u| \le u_0 - g_w(u_0) = \left(\frac{w}{w+1}\right)^w \left(\frac{1}{w+1}\right) \le \frac{1}{w+1},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0. Note that, we are currently in the scenario described in Remark 3.1.3, and if the function L satisfies condition (3.1), assumption (\mathcal{L} 3) holds for $\theta_0 = 1$. In fact,

$$\mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x}) = \sup_{0 \le |u| < \frac{1}{j}} |g_{w}(u) - u| \le \frac{1}{w - 1} = \mathcal{O}(w^{-1})$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}_w^j(\underline{x}) = \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \left| \frac{g_w(u)}{u} - 1 \right| = \sup_{\frac{1}{j} \le |u|} \frac{1}{|u|} \cdot |g_w(u) - u| \le j \cdot \frac{1}{w - 1} = \mathcal{O}\left(w^{-1}\right),$$

as $w \to +\infty$. Moreover, if we consider, for instance, the function $\psi : \mathbb{R}_0^+ \to \mathbb{R}$, such that $\psi(u) := \frac{3}{2}u$, the functions $g_w(u)$, w > 0 satisfy (3.2) for sufficiently large w > 0. In details, if we consider $|u|, |v| \ge 1$, we obtain

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = |u - v| \le \psi(|u - v|);$$

if we consider $u, v \in (0, 1)$, using the Langrange theorem, we get

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = |u^{1+1/w} - v^{1+1/w}| \le \frac{3}{2}|u - v| = \psi(|u - v|),$$

for $w \ge 2$; finally, for $u \in (0, 1)$ and $|v| \ge 1$ (or conversely), using again the Lagrange theorem, we obtain

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = v - u^{1+1/w} = (v - 1) + (1 - u^{1+1/w})$$

$$\leq (v - 1) + \frac{3}{2}(1 - u) \leq \frac{3}{2}(v - 1 + 1 - u) = \psi(|v - u|),$$

if $v \ge 1$, while if $v \le -1$

$$|g_w(u) - g_w(v)| = u^{1+1/w} - v \le \frac{3}{2}u - v = \frac{3}{2}u - v - \frac{1}{2}v + \frac{1}{2}v$$
$$= \frac{3}{2}u - \frac{3}{2}v + \frac{1}{2}v \le \frac{3}{2}u - \frac{3}{2}v = \psi(|u - v|).$$

Note that, since the above function ψ is linear, hence it is concave on \mathbb{R}_0^+ , and in this case, we have that the functions g_w , w > 0, satisfy a strongly-Lipschitz condition.



Figure 4.1: Graph of $g_w(u)$ for different values of w.

4.2 Quantitative estimates in Orlicz spaces

For any fixed $f \in L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we define the modulus of smoothness in Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with respect to the modular I^{φ} , as follows

$$\omega_{\varphi}(f,\delta) := \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_{2} \le \delta} I^{\varphi} \left[f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \right] = \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_{2} \le \delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi(|f(\underline{s} + \underline{t}) - f(\underline{s})|) d\underline{s},$$

with $\delta > 0$. It is well-known that, by Theorem 1.2.6, for every $f \in L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $\omega_{\varphi}(\lambda f, \delta) \to 0$, as $\delta \to 0^+$.

Hence, denoting by τ the characteristic function of the set $[0,1]^n$, i.e., $\tau(\underline{u}) = 1$, if $\underline{u} \in [0,1]^n$, and $\tau(\underline{0}) = 0$ otherwise, we can state the main result of this section.

Theorem 4.2.1. Let φ be a convex φ -function. Suppose that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) with η convex, $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and also for any fixed $0 < \alpha < 1$, we have

$$w^n \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) d\underline{y} \le M_5 w^{-\alpha_0}, \tag{4.3}$$

as $w \to +\infty$, for suitable positive constants M_5 , α_0 depending on α and L. Then, there exist $\mu > 0$, $\lambda > 0$ and further parameters $K, \lambda_0 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} I^{\varphi}[\mu(K_w f - f)] &\leq \frac{\|L\|_1 m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau)}{3\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}\right) + \frac{M_5 m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) I^{\eta}[\lambda_0 f]}{3\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} w^{-\alpha_0} \\ &+ \frac{\Delta^n}{3\delta^n} \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \sqrt{n}\frac{\Delta}{w}\right) + \frac{K}{3} w^{-\theta_0} + \frac{I^{\varphi}[\lambda_0 f]}{3} w^{-\theta_0}, \end{split}$$

for every sufficiently large w > 0, where $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$ by (i) of Lemma 3.1.4, $m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) < +\infty$, since τ is bounded and with compact support, and $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition ($\chi 4$). In particular, if $\mu > 0$ and $\lambda > 0$ are sufficiently small, the above inequality implies the modular convergence of nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators $K_w f$ to f.

Proof. Let $\lambda_0, K > 0$ such that $I^{\varphi}[\lambda_0 f] < +\infty$ and $\int_A \varphi(\lambda_0) d\underline{x} < K$ for every measurable set A of finite measure, by the absolutely finiteness of I^{φ} . Further, we also fix $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\lambda < \min\left\{1, \frac{\lambda_0}{2}\right\}.$$

In correspondence to λ , by condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , we know that there exists $C_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$ such that $\varphi(C_{\lambda}\psi(u)) \leq \eta(\lambda u), u \in \mathbb{R}_{0}^{+}$, while by $(\chi 4)$, there exist constants θ_{0} , $M_{2}, M_{3} > 0$ such that

$$\mathcal{S}_w^j(\underline{x}) \le M_2 w^{-\theta_0}, \quad \mathcal{T}_w(\underline{x}) \le M_3 w^{-\theta_0},$$

uniformly with respect to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, for sufficiently large w > 0. Now, we choose $\mu > 0$ such that

$$\mu \le \min\left\{\frac{C_{\lambda}}{3m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}, \frac{\lambda_0}{3M_2}, \frac{\lambda_0}{3M_3}\right\}.$$

Taking into account that φ is convex and non-decreasing, for $\mu > 0$, we can write

r

$$\begin{split} I^{\varphi}\left[\mu\left(K_{w}f-f\right)\right] &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\varphi\left(\mu\left|\left(K_{w}f\right)(\underline{x}\right)-f(\underline{x})\right|\right)d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{3} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\varphi\left(3\mu\left|\left(K_{w}f\right)(\underline{x})-\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}f\left(\underline{u}+\underline{x}-\frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right)d\underline{u}\right)\right|\right)d\underline{x} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\varphi\left(3\mu\left|\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}f\left(\underline{u}+\underline{x}-\frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right)d\underline{u}\right)-\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}},f(\underline{x})\right)\right|\right)d\underline{x} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\varphi\left(3\mu\left|\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\underline{x}-t_{\underline{k}},f(\underline{x})\right)-f(\underline{x})\right|\right)d\underline{x}\right\} =: I_{1}+I_{2}+I_{3}, \end{split}$$

where $\frac{t_k}{w} = \left(\frac{t_{k_1}}{w}, \frac{t_{k_2}}{w}, \cdots, \frac{t_{k_n}}{w}\right)$. Now, we estimate I_1 . Applying condition (χ 3), we have

$$\begin{aligned} 3I_{1} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu \left| (K_{w}f)(\underline{x}) - \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w} \right) d\underline{u} \right) \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} \right) d\underline{u} \right) \right. \\ &- \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w} \right) d\underline{u} \right) \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\left| \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} \right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w} \right) d\underline{u} \right| \right) \right) d\underline{x}. \end{aligned}$$

Using Jensen inequality twice, the change of variable $\underline{y} = \underline{x} - \frac{t_k}{w}$, condition (H_{\varphi}) and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we obtain

$$\begin{split} 3I_{1} &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \cdot \\ & \cdot \varphi \left(3\mu m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \cdot \\ & \cdot \varphi \left(3\mu m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \cdot \\ & \cdot \varphi \left(C_{\lambda}\psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \eta \left(\lambda \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| \right) d\underline{u} d\underline{x} \end{aligned}$$

Quantitative and qualitative estimates

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \cdot \\ &\quad \cdot \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| \right) \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{y}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right| \right) \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right| \right) \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{u}\right) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right| \right) d\underline{u} d\underline{y} \\ &= \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) I^{\eta} \left[\lambda \left(f(\cdot) - f(\cdot + \underline{y}) \right) \right] d\underline{y}, \end{split}$$

where the constant $m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) < +\infty$, since τ is bounded and with compact support (see, e.g., [49]). Now, let $0 < \alpha < 1$ be fixed. We now split the above integral as follows

$$\frac{w^n \delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) \left\{ \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 \le \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} + \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} \right\} L(w\underline{y}) I^{\eta} \left[\lambda \left(f(\cdot) - f(\cdot + \underline{y}) \right) \right] d\underline{y}$$
$$=: I_{1,1} + I_{1,2}.$$

For $I_{1,1}$, one has

$$I_{1,1} \leq \frac{w^n \delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 \leq \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2\right) d\underline{y}$$
$$\leq \frac{w^n \delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}\right) \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 \leq \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) d\underline{y}$$
$$\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}\right) \|L\|_1.$$

On the other hand, taking into account that η is convex, for $I_{1,2}$ we can write

$$I_{1,2} \leq \frac{w^n \delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) \frac{1}{2} \left(I^{\eta}[2\lambda f(\cdot)] + I^{\eta}[2\lambda f(\cdot+\underline{y})] \right) d\underline{y}.$$

Now, observing that

$$I^{\eta}[2\lambda f(\cdot)] = I^{\eta}[2\lambda f(\cdot + \underline{y})],$$

for every \underline{y} , using (4.3), we finally get

$$I_{1,2} \leq \frac{w^{n} \delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_{2} > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) I^{\eta}[2\lambda f] d\underline{y}$$
$$\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) I^{\eta}[\lambda_{0}f] M_{5}w^{-\alpha_{0}},$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large and for $M_5 > 0$. Now we can proceed estimating I_2 . Using the assumption $(\chi 3)$ we immediately have

$$3I_{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) d\underline{u} \right) - \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) \right| \right) d\underline{x}$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\left| \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) d\underline{u} - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) \right) d\underline{x}.$$

Now, by the change of variable $\underline{y} = \underline{u} - \frac{t_k}{w}$, we have

$$3I_2 \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(3\mu \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \ \psi \left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^w} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{y} \right) \right) d\underline{x},$$

where the symbol $\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^{w} := \left[0, \frac{\Delta_{k_{1}}}{w}\right] \times \cdots \left[0, \frac{\Delta_{k_{n}}}{w}\right]$ for every $\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}$ and w > 0. Hence, applying Jensen inequality twice as above, recalling that $3\mu m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \leq C_{\lambda}$ and condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , we get

$$\begin{aligned} 3I_{2} &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \varphi \left(3\mu m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \psi \left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{y} \right) \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \eta \left(\lambda \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{y} \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{y} d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \int_{\Delta_{w}} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y} \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{y} d\underline{x}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\Delta_w := \left[0, \frac{\Delta}{w}\right]^n$. Then, by the Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we get

$$\begin{aligned} 3I_2 &\leq \frac{\delta^{-n}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} w^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \int_{\Delta_w} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{y} d\underline{x} \\ &= \delta^{-n} w^n \int_{\Delta_w} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \eta \left(\lambda \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{x} d\underline{y} \\ &= \delta^{-n} w^n \int_{\Delta_w} I^\eta \left[\lambda \left(f\left(\cdot + \underline{y}\right) - f(\cdot) \right) \right] d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} w^n \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w}\right) \int_{\Delta_w} d\underline{y} \\ &= \delta^{-n} \Delta^n \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w}\right). \end{aligned}$$

For I_3 , denoted by $A_j \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ the set of all points of \mathbb{R}^n for which $0 \leq |f(\underline{x})| < 1/j$, with $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} 3I_{3} &= \int_{A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{A_{j}} \varphi (3\mu \mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x})) d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu |f(\underline{x})| \left| \frac{1}{f(\underline{x})} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - 1 \right| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{A_{j}} \varphi (3\mu \mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x})) d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu |f(\underline{x})| \mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(x) \right) d\underline{x}. \end{aligned}$$

By the convexity of φ and condition ($\chi 4$), we have

$$\begin{aligned} 3I_{3} &\leq \int_{A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu M_{2} w^{-\theta_{0}} \right) d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu M_{3} w^{-\theta_{0}} |f(\underline{x})| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq w^{-\theta_{0}} \int_{A_{j}} \varphi \left(3\mu M_{2} \right) d\underline{x} + w^{-\theta_{0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(3\mu M_{3} |f(\underline{x})| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq w^{-\theta_{0}} \int_{A_{j}} \varphi \left(\lambda_{0} \right) d\underline{x} + w^{-\theta_{0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi \left(\lambda_{0} |f(\underline{x})| \right) d\underline{x} \\ &\leq K w^{-\theta_{0}} + w^{-\theta_{0}} I^{\varphi} \left[\lambda_{0} f \right], \end{aligned}$$

for positive constants M_2, M_3 and θ_0 . This completes the proof.

Remark 4.2.2. Note that, condition (4.3) is obviously fullfilled when the kernel χ satisfies condition (χ 3) with L having compact support. Indeed, if $supp L \subset B(\underline{0}, R) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, R > 0, we have

$$w^n \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) d\underline{y} = \int_{\left\|\underline{u}\right\|_2 > w^{1-\alpha}} L(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} = 0,$$

for every $w > R^{1/(1-\alpha)}$. The above consideration implies that the term $I_{1,2}$ in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 is null, for sufficiently large w > 0. Moreover, in this case, we also have that condition (L2) is satisfied for every $\beta_0 > 0$.

Corollary 4.2.3. Let χ be a kernel satisfying condition (χ 3) with L having compact support. Let φ be a convex φ -function satisfying condition (H_{φ}) with η convex and $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, for every $0 < \alpha < 1$, there exist constants $\mu > 0$, $\lambda > 0$ and further parameters $\lambda_0, K > 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} I^{\varphi}[\mu(K_w f - f)] &\leq \frac{\|L\|_1 \, m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau)}{3\delta^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}\right) + \frac{\Delta^n}{3\delta^n} \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{K}{3} w^{-\theta_0} + \frac{I^{\varphi}[\lambda_0 f]}{3} w^{-\theta_0}, \end{split}$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$, $m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) < +\infty$, and $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition ($\chi 4$).

Remark 4.2.4. Note that, if L has not compact support, we may require the following condition

$$M^{\nu}(L) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L(\underline{u}) \, \|\underline{u}\|_2^{\nu} \, d\underline{u} < +\infty, \tag{4.4}$$

for $\nu > 0$, which results a sufficient condition for (4.3). Indeed, for every $0 < \alpha < 1$, we can write what follows

$$\begin{split} w^n \int_{\left\|\underline{y}\right\|_2 > \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}} L(w\underline{y}) d\underline{y} &= \int_{\left\|\underline{u}\right\|_2 > w^{1-\alpha}} L(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \le \frac{1}{w^{\nu(1-\alpha)}} \int_{\left\|\underline{u}\right\|_2 > w^{1-\alpha}} \left\|\underline{u}\right\|_2^{\nu} L(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \\ &\le \frac{M^{\nu}(L)}{w^{\nu(1-\alpha)}} = \mathcal{O}(w^{\nu(\alpha-1)}), \end{split}$$

as $w \to +\infty$. Hence, (4.3) is satisfied with $\alpha_0 = (1 - \alpha)\nu$ and $M_5 = M^{\nu}(L)$.

Remark 4.2.5. Quantitative estimates for the multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators in the linear case have been considered in details in [8]. For more references concerning linear operators, see, e.g., [5, 13, 14, 60, 72, 76].
4.2.1 Application to special kernels

In this section, we give the following corollaries, as particular results of the previous ones, for some special kernels. For a more extensive exposition of kernel functions, we refer to Section 3.5.

As shown in Remark 4.2.4, it is easy to see that the multivariate Féjer kernel \mathcal{F}_n satisfies (4.4) for every $0 < \nu < 1$. Hence, for the corresponding nonlinear operators $K_w^{\mathcal{F}_n}$, from Theorem 4.2.1 we can state the following.

Corollary 4.2.6. Let φ be a convex φ -function. Suppose that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) with η convex, $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, for every $0 < \nu < 1$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, there exist constants $\mu > 0$, $\lambda > 0$ and further parameters $\lambda_0, K > 0$, such that

$$I^{\varphi}[\mu(K_{w}^{\mathcal{F}_{n}}f-f)] \leq \frac{1}{3} \left\{ \omega_{\eta}\left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}}\right) + M_{5}I^{\eta}[\lambda_{0}f]w^{-\alpha_{0}} + \omega_{\eta}\left(\lambda f, \frac{\sqrt{n}}{w}\right) + Kw^{-\theta_{0}} + I^{\varphi}[\lambda_{0}f]w^{-\theta_{0}} \right\},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, $\alpha_0 = (1 - \alpha)\nu$, $M_5 > 0$ and $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition (L3).

For the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators $K_w^{\mathcal{J}_n}$ based on the multivariate Jackson kernel, we can obtain an analogous result to that one achieved for $K_w^{\mathcal{F}_n}$.

Both the Féjer kernel and the Jackson kernel have unbounded support. Thus, to reconstruct a given signal of f by means of $K_w^{\mathcal{F}_n}$ or $K_w^{\mathcal{J}_n}$, we need to compute an infinite number of mean values $w^n \int_{R_k^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u}$ in order to evaluate the above operators at any fixed $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Therefore, for a practical application of the above sampling series with L having unbounded support, the sampling series must be truncated and this leads to truncation errors which worsen the quality of reconstruction.

However, considering kernels with L having compact support, the truncation error can be avoided. In this case, the infinite sampling series computed at any fixed $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ reduce to a finite one. Important examples of such kernels can be generated by using the well-known B-splines. For the corresponding operators $K_w^{\mathcal{M}_s^n}$, from Corollary 4.2.3 we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.2.7. Let φ be a convex φ -function. Suppose that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) with η convex, $f \in L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, for every $0 < \alpha < 1$, there exist constants $\mu > 0, \lambda > 0$ and further parameters $\lambda_0, K > 0$, such that

$$I^{\varphi}[\mu(K_w^{\mathcal{M}_s^n}f - f)] \leq \frac{1}{3} \left\{ \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{1}{w^{\alpha}} \right) + \omega_\eta \left(\lambda f, \frac{\sqrt{n}}{w} \right) + Kw^{-\theta_0} + I^{\varphi}[\lambda_0 f] w^{-\theta_0} \right\},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition (L3).

4.3 Quantitative estimates in Lebesgue spaces

Now, we consider some particular cases of Orlicz spaces. Let $\varphi(u) = u^p$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^+_0$, $1 \leq p < +\infty$, the Orlicz space $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincides with the space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $\psi(u) = u^{q/p}$, $1 \leq q \leq p$, condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) turns out to be satisfied with $\eta(u) = u^q$ and $C_{\lambda} = \lambda^{p/q}$. In such case, we have $L^{\varphi+\eta}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which is a proper subspace of $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and obviously Theorem 4.2.1 and its corollary hold. From the theory developed in [78], we know that if the function ψ of condition (χ^3)

From the theory developed in [78], we know that if the function ψ of condition $(\chi 3)$ is of the form $\psi(u) = u, u \in \mathbb{R}$, the operators K_w map the whole space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into itself, i.e., K_w are well-defined in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and therefore, we can obtain, as particular case, a quantitative estimate in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

But thanks to the well-known properties of the first order modulus of smoothness in L^p (see Example 1.2.9), we can establish a direct quantitative estimate, which turns out to be sharper than that one established in the general case considered in Theorem 4.2.1.

In order to obtain the above mentioned result for the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators, we recall, for $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the definition of the L^p -first order modulus of smoothness of f, given by

$$\omega_p(f,\delta) := \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \le \delta} \|f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot)\|_p = \sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 \le \delta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{s} + \underline{t}) - f(\underline{s})|^p d\underline{s} \right)^{1/p},$$

with $\delta > 0, f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 \le p < +\infty.$

Therefore, we can prove the following estimate.

Theorem 4.3.1. Suppose that $(\chi 3)$ is satisfied with $\psi(u) = u$, $u \in \mathbb{R}$, and

$$M^{p}(L) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(\underline{u}) \, \|\underline{u}\|_{2}^{p} \, d\underline{u} < +\infty, \qquad (4.5)$$

for some $1 \leq p < +\infty$. Then, for every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the following quantitative estimate holds

$$||K_w f - f||_p \le T\omega_p \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right) + M_2 w^{-\theta_0} + M_3 ||f||_p w^{-\theta_0},$$

where

$$T := \delta^{-\frac{n}{p}} (m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L))^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \cdot \left\{ 2^{\frac{p-1}{p}} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau)^{1/p} \left[\|L\|_{1} + M^{p}(L) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} + (m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L))^{\frac{1}{p}} \Delta^{\frac{n}{p}} (1 + \sqrt{n}\Delta) \right\},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$ by (i) of Lemma 3.1.4, $m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) < +\infty$, τ being the characteristic function of $[0,1]^n$, and M_2 , M_3 , $\theta_0 > 0$ are the constants of condition ($\chi 4$).

Proof. Recalling that $I^{\varphi}[f] = ||f||_p^p$, when $\varphi(u) = u^p$, using the Minkowsky inequality, the concavity (hence the subadditivity) of the function $|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{p}}$, and applying condition $(\chi 3)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|K_{w}f - f\|_{p} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|K_{w}f(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left|\chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u}\right)\right) \\ &\quad -\chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) d\underline{u}\right)\right)\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &+ \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left|\chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) d\underline{u}\right)\right. \\ &\quad -\chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})\right) \left|d\underline{u}\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &+ \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x})\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\quad + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left|f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right)\right| d\underline{u}\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\quad + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left|f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) - f(\underline{x})\right| d\underline{u}\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\quad + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left|f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) - f(\underline{x})\right| d\underline{u}\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} \\ &\quad + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x})) - f(\underline{x})\right|^{p} d\underline{x}\right)^{1/p} =: I_{1}^{p} + I_{2}^{p} + I_{3}^{p}. \end{split}$$

Now, proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, i.e., applying Jensen inequality twice and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we obtain

$$I_1^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_k}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right]^p d\underline{x}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L) \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right| d\underline{u} \right]^{p} d\underline{x} \\ \leq m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right|^{p} d\underline{u} \right] d\underline{x}.$$

Now, applying the change of variable $\underline{y} = \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}/w$ and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we get

$$\begin{split} I_{1}^{p} &\leq m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) \right|^{p} \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} \right] d\underline{y} \\ &= m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} L(w\underline{y}) \left[\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right|^{p} \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} \right] d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right|^{p} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \tau(w\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{u} \right] d\underline{y} \\ &= \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| f(\underline{u}) - f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{y}\right) \right|^{p} d\underline{u} \right] d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \omega_{p} \left(f, \left\| \underline{y} \right\|_{2} \right)^{p} d\underline{y}, \end{split}$$

where the constant $m_{0,\Pi^n}(\tau) < +\infty$ since τ is bounded and with compact support. Exploiting the well-known inequality $\omega_p(f, \lambda \delta) \leq (1 + \lambda)\omega_p(f, \delta)$, with $\delta, \lambda > 0$, we finally get

$$\begin{split} I_{1}^{p} &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \left(1 + w \left\|\underline{y}\right\|_{2}\right)^{p} \omega_{p} \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right)^{p} d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) 2^{p-1} \omega_{p} \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right)^{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \left(1 + w^{p} \left\|\underline{y}\right\|_{2}^{p}\right) d\underline{y} \\ &= \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) 2^{p-1} \omega_{p} \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right)^{p} \cdot \\ &\quad \cdot \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) d\underline{y} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} w^{n} L(w\underline{y}) \left(w \left\|\underline{y}\right\|_{2}\right)^{p} d\underline{y} \right\} \\ &= \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)^{p-1} m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(\tau) 2^{p-1} \omega_{p} \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right)^{p} \left\{ \|L\|_{1} + M^{p}(L) \right\}, \end{split}$$

for every w > 0, where $||L||_1$ and $M^p(L)$ are both finite, in view of (L1) and (4.5). Now we estimate I_2^p . Using Jensen inequality twice, the change of variable $\underline{y} =$ $\underline{u} - t_{\underline{k}}/w$ and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} I_2^p &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} \left| f\left(\underline{u} + \underline{x} - \frac{t_{\underline{k}}}{w}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{u} \right]^p d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^w} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{y} \right]^p d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{\widetilde{R}_{\underline{k}}^w} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right| d\underline{y} \right]^p d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^{p-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \left[w^n \int_{\Delta_w} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right|^p d\underline{y} \right] d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} w^n \int_{\Delta_w} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right|^p d\underline{y} d\underline{x} \\ &= \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^p \int_{\Delta_w} w^n \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| f\left(\underline{x} + \underline{y}\right) - f(\underline{x}) \right|^p d\underline{y} \right] d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^p \int_{\Delta_w} w^n \left[\omega_p \left(f, \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w} \right) \right]^p d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^p \Delta^n \omega_p \left(f, \sqrt{n} \frac{\Delta}{w} \right)^p \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)^p \Delta^n (1 + \sqrt{n} \Delta)^p \omega_p \left(f, \frac{1}{w}\right)^p, \end{split}$$

where $\Delta_w := [0, \frac{\Delta}{w}]^n$. Finally, denoted again by $A_j \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ the set of all points of \mathbb{R}^n for which $0 \leq |f(\underline{x})| < 1/j$, with $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{3}^{p} &= \int_{A_{j}} \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right|^{p} d\underline{x} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - f(\underline{x}) \right|^{p} d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{A_{j}} [\mathcal{S}_{w}^{j}(\underline{x})]^{p} d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} |f(\underline{x})|^{p} \left| \frac{1}{f(\underline{x})} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, f(\underline{x}) \right) - 1 \right|^{p} d\underline{x} \\ &\leq \int_{A_{j}} M_{2}^{p} w^{-p\theta_{0}} d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{j}} |f(\underline{x})|^{p} [\mathcal{T}_{w}^{j}(x)]^{p} d\underline{x} \end{split}$$

$$\leq \int_{A_j} M_2^p w^{-p\theta_0} d\underline{x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A_j} |f(\underline{x})|^p M_3^p w^{-p\theta_0} d\underline{x}$$
$$\leq M_2^p w^{-p\theta_0} \int_{A_j} d\underline{x} + M_3^p w^{-p\theta_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(\underline{x})|^p d\underline{x}$$
$$\leq M_2^p w^{-p\theta_0} + M_3^p w^{-p\theta_0} \|f\|_p^p$$

for positive constants M_2, M_3 and θ_0 . This proves the theorem.

4.4 Qualitative order of convergence in Lipschitz classes

Recalling the definition of Lipschitz classes $Lip(\nu)$, $0 < \nu \leq 1$, namely

$$Lip(\nu) := \{ f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n) : \| f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \|_{\infty} = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}), \text{ as } \|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0 \},$$

from Theorem 4.1.1, we immediately obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.4.1. Let $f \in Lip(\nu)$, $0 < \nu \leq 1$, and let L be a function satisfying condition (L2) with $\beta_0 \geq 1$. In addition, we suppose that ψ of condition (χ 3) satisfies the following assumption

$$\psi(u) = \mathcal{O}(u^q), \tag{4.6}$$

as $u \to 0^+$ and for some $0 < q \leq 1$. Then, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|K_w f - f\|_{\infty} \le C w^{-l},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, with $l := \min\{\nu q, \theta_0\}$, where $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition ($\chi 4$).

Whereas, from Theorem 4.1.2 we deduce the following result.

Corollary 4.4.2. Let $f \in Lip(\nu)$, $0 < \nu \leq 1$, L be a function satisfying condition (L2) with $0 < \beta_0 < 1$, and ψ of condition (χ 3) satisfying assumption (4.6) as $u \to 0^+$ and for some $0 < q \leq 1$. Then, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|K_w f - f\|_{\infty} \le C w^{-l},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, with $l := \min\{\nu\beta_0 q, \beta_0, \theta_0\}$, where $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition ($\chi 4$).

Now we, recall the definition of Lipschitz classes in Orlicz spaces $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We define by $Lip_{\varphi}(\nu), 0 < \nu \leq 1$, as follows

$$Lip_{\varphi}(\nu) := \{ f \in L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \exists \lambda > 0, \ I^{\varphi} \left[\lambda \left(f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \right) \right] = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}), \text{ as } \|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0 \}$$

From Theorem 4.2.1, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.4.3. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.2.1 with $0 < \alpha < 1$ and for any $f \in Lip_n(\nu)$, $0 < \nu \leq 1$, there exist C > 0 and $\mu > 0$ such that

$$I^{\varphi}\left[\mu\left(K_wf - f\right)\right] \le Cw^{-l},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, with $l := \min\{\alpha\nu, \alpha_0, \theta_0\}$, where $\theta_0 > 0$ is the constant of condition $(\chi 4)$.

As made in the general context of Orlicz spaces, from Theorem 4.3.1 we can directly deduce the qualitative order of approximation, assuming f in suitable Lipschitz spaces.

We recall that the Lipschitz class of Zygmund-type in L^p -spaces, with $0 < \nu \leq 1$, are defined as follows

$$Lip_p(\nu) := \{ f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) : \| f(\cdot + \underline{t}) - f(\cdot) \|_p = \mathcal{O}(\|\underline{t}\|_2^{\nu}), \text{ as } \|\underline{t}\|_2 \to 0 \}.$$

Now, we can state the following result.

Corollary 4.4.4. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.3.1, for every $f \in Lip_p(\nu)$, with $0 < \nu \leq 1, 1 \leq p < +\infty$, the following qualitative estimate holds

$$\|K_w f - f\|_p \le TC \frac{1}{w^{\nu}} + M_2 w^{-\theta_0} + M_3 \|f\|_p w^{-\theta_0},$$

for sufficiently large w > 0, where $m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) < +\infty$, T is the constant of Theorem 4.3.1, M_2 , M_3 , $\theta_0 > 0$ are the constants of condition ($\chi 4$) and C > 0 is the constant arising from the class $Lip_p(\nu)$.

Chapter 5

Extensions to modular spaces

This chapter is based on the original results contained in [43], and herein we replace the setting of Orlicz spaces by the more general one of modular spaces ([1,26,54,61,64,70]). This extends the field of applications and enables us to give a unifying approach to several kinds of approximation problems. The theory of modular spaces contains, as we have already seen in Section 1.1, the Musielak-Orlicz and the Orlicz spaces, which are, for instance, generalizations of the weighted L^p -spaces and the classical L^p -spaces, respectively.

Since, the framework we are now interested in is very general and abstract, it requires the use of some technical conditions on the modulars taken into consideration which generate the involved spaces and the kernel function χ . However, we will show that these technical conditions are satisfied in several concrete cases.

In this context, our main result is a modular convergence theorem (Theorem 5.1.5), that has been proved via a density approach. More in detail, first we prove a modular convergence result for the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators acting on the space of continuous functions with compact support (Theorem 5.1.2). Then we obtain a modular-type inequality (Theorem 5.1.4) for our operators, and finally we exploit the well-known density result (Theorem 1.1.15) for the continuous function with compact support in the modular spaces.

In the last two sections of this chapter, we investigate the case of Musielak-Orlicz spaces and the spaces of functions equipped by modulars that are not of integral type.

5.1 Convergence results in modular spaces

Here, we consider $\mathbb{R}^n = (\mathbb{R}^n, \Sigma_{\mathbb{R}^n}, \mu_{\mathbb{R}^n})$ and $\mathbb{Z}^n = (\mathbb{Z}^n, \Sigma_{\mathbb{Z}^n}, \mu_{\mathbb{Z}^n})$, where $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\mu_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ are the Lebesgue and the counting measures respectively, while $\Sigma_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\Sigma_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ are their corresponding σ -algebras, i.e., the families of all measurable sets (with respect to the above measures) which are closed with respect to the operations of

countable union and complementary.

Let $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ be two modular functionals on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, respectively. In order to study convergence results in the general setting of modular spaces, we need to introduce a condition of compatibility between a given kernel χ and the modulars $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$.

We will say that the kernel χ is *L*-compatible with $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ if there exist two constants $D_1, D_2 > 0$ and a net $(b_w)_{w>0}$ of positive numbers with $b_w \to 0$ as $w \to +\infty$, such that

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}g_{\underline{k}}L(w\cdot -t_{\underline{k}})\right) \leq \frac{1}{w^n}D_1\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}(D_2g) + b_w \tag{5.1}$$

for any non negative $g = (g_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$, $g \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, and for sufficiently large w > 0, where L is the function of condition (χ_3) .

Furthermore, we also need to introduce an additional assumption which relates L of condition (χ 3) with the modular $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$.

We assume that for any fixed $\gamma > 0$ and a > 0, there exist a constant T > 0 and a measurable set $\mathcal{I} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\mathcal{I}) < +\infty$ such that

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \le T,$$
(5.2)

for sufficiently large w > 0.

- **Remark 5.1.1.** a) The compatibility condition (5.1) has been firstly introduced in [63] in a more general form, and then, it has been recalled in [51] for the linear version of sampling Kantorovich operators.
- b) If χ is a kernel satisfying condition $(\chi 3)$ with L having compact support, the assumption (5.2) is obviously satisfied. In fact, let $\gamma > 0$ and a > 0 be fixed, and $\operatorname{supp} L \subset B(\underline{0}, R) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with R > 0. It is easy to see that, for every $t_{\underline{k}} \in B(\underline{0}, w\gamma)$, it turns out that $L(w\underline{x} t_{\underline{k}}) = 0$ for every $\underline{x} \notin B(\underline{0}, \gamma + R/w)$, w > 0.

So, taking $\mathcal{I} := B(\underline{0}, \gamma + R)$ and using condition $(\rho 1)$, we have

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) = 0,$$

for every $w \ge 1$.

Now, we can prove the following modular convergence theorem for the family of the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators acting on functions which belong to $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 5.1.2. Let $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ be a convex, monotone, strongly finite and absolutely continuous modular on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover let χ be a kernel which satisfies assumption (5.2) together with $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$. Then for every $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and for every $0 < \lambda \leq \alpha/2$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\lambda(K_w f - f)) = 0,$$

where α is the parameter of the absolutely continuity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$.

Proof. Let $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and let $\overline{\gamma}$ be a positive constant such that $\operatorname{supp} f \subset B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma})$. Let $\gamma > \overline{\gamma} + \Delta$, we have

$$\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} f(\underline{u}) \, d\underline{u} = 0,$$

for every $t_{\underline{k}} \notin B(\underline{0}, w\gamma)$, being $R_{\underline{k}}^w \cap B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma}) \neq \emptyset$ for sufficiently large w > 0. Then, as made in Remark 3.3.1, the nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operator of f reduces to the finite sum

$$(K_w f)(\underline{x}) := \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w\gamma} \chi\left(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u}\right),$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0.

Note that, it turns out that $K_w f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$, since χ is measurable, and $f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ being continuous; moreover, also $K_w f - f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Now, by the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition, we can write what follows

$$|(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| \leq |(K_w f)(\underline{x})| + |f(\underline{x})|$$

$$= \left| \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) \right| + |f(\underline{x})|$$

$$\leq \psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) + \|f\|_{\infty}, \qquad (5.3)$$

for $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and w > 0. Furthermore, if $\underline{x} \notin B(\underline{0}, \overline{\gamma})$ the above upper-bound can be sharpened, namely

$$|(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| = |(K_w f)(\underline{x})| \le \psi(||f||_{\infty}) \sum_{||t_{\underline{k}}||_2 \le w\gamma} L(w\underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}).$$

By the above inequalities, using the monotonicity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ together with the property (ρ_3) , we get

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(K_w f - f) &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\frac{1}{2} \cdot 2 \cdot \psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) + \frac{1}{2} \cdot 2 \cdot \|f\|_{\infty} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(2\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(2\|f\|_{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right), \end{split}$$

where $\mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})}$ is the characteristic function on $B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})$, with $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}(B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})) \leq 2^n \overline{\gamma}^n < +\infty$. Now, applying condition (5.2), with γ above fixed and $a := 4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})$, there exist T > 0 and a measurable set $\mathcal{I} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\mathcal{I}) < +\infty$, such that

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \le T,$$
(5.4)

for w > 0 sufficiently large. Recalling that the modular $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is strongly finite, we have that $\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{I}}, \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \in E_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and therefore, using (ρ_3) , the monotonicity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, and (5.4), we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}(K_{w}f-f) &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(2\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})(\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) + \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\mathcal{I}}(\cdot)) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \\ &+ \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(2 \|f\|_{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right) \\ &= \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \cdot 4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) + \frac{1}{2} \cdot 4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \\ &+ \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(2 \|f\|_{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \\ &+ \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_{2} \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(2 \|f\|_{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(4\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})\mathbf{m}_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{I}}(\cdot)) + T + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(2 \|f\|_{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},\overline{\gamma})} \right) < +\infty, \end{split}$$

for sufficiently large w > 0.

Now, we denote by $\alpha > 0$ the constant of the absolute continuity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, and let

 $\varepsilon > 0$ be fixed. In correspondence to $\varepsilon/2$, we have that there exists a measurable subset $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}(A) < +\infty$ such that

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\alpha(K_w f - f) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} \right) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$
(5.5)

In particular, since $\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n}(A) < +\infty$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is a convex, strongly finite modular, which implies that it is also finite, one has that $\mathbf{1}_A \in E_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, i.e., $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\lambda \mathbf{1}_A) = 0$. Then in correspondence to $\varepsilon/2$, there exists a sufficient small $\lambda_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(\lambda_{\varepsilon}\mathbf{1}_A\right) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.\tag{5.6}$$

Moreover, since $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and by Theorem 3.2.1, we also have

$$\alpha \|K_w f - f\|_{\infty} < \lambda_{\varepsilon}, \tag{5.7}$$

for sufficiently large w > 0.

Now, let $0 < \lambda \leq \alpha/2$ arbitrary fixed. We can write what follows

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda \left| (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) \right| &\leq \frac{\alpha}{2} \left| (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left[\alpha \left| (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A}(\underline{x}) + \alpha \left| (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) \right| \mathbf{1}_A(\underline{x}) \right], \end{aligned}$$

with $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Now, using the monotonicity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, condition (ρ_3) and the conditions (5.5)-(5.7), we finally obtain

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\lambda | K_w f - f | \right) \le \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\alpha | K_w f - f | \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus A} \right) + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\alpha | K_w f - f | \mathbf{1}_A \right) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\lambda_\varepsilon \mathbf{1}_A) < \varepsilon,$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large. This completes the proof.

If the function L of condition $(\chi 3)$ has compact support, we can state the following theorem, that is a Luxemburg-norm convergence result for $K_w f$, with $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 5.1.3. Let $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ be a convex, monotone, strongly finite and absolutely continuous modular on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover, let χ be a kernel satisfying condition $(\chi 3)$ with L having compact support. Then, for any $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and for every $\lambda > 0$, we have

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\lambda(K_w f - f)) = 0.$$

Proof. Assuming supp $L \subset B(\underline{0}, R) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, with R > 0, we obtain that $L(w\underline{x} - t\underline{k}) = 0$ for every $\underline{x} \notin B(\underline{0}, R + \gamma)$, $t\underline{k} \in B(\underline{0}, w\gamma)$ and $w \ge 1$, where $\gamma > 0$ is defined as in

the proof of Theorem 5.1.2. Hence, using $(\chi 3)$, we get

$$0 \le |(K_w f)(\underline{x})| \le \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w\gamma} \left| \chi \left(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}, \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) \right|$$
$$\le \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \underline{x} - t_{\underline{k}}) \psi \left(\frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} f(\underline{u}) d\underline{u} \right) = 0,$$

if $\underline{x} \notin B(\underline{0}, R + \gamma)$, i.e., $\operatorname{supp} K_w f \subset B(\underline{0}, R + \gamma)$ for every $w \ge 1$. Now, for every fixed $\lambda > 0$, using (5.3), we have

$$\lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) | = \lambda | (K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x}) | \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0}, R+\gamma)}$$

$$\leq \lambda [\psi(||f||_{\infty}) m_{0, \Pi^n}(L) + ||f||_{\infty}] \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0}, R+\gamma)},$$

for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $w \ge 1$ sufficiently large.

Since the modular $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is strongly finite, we have that $\mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)} \in E_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and therefore, by the monotonicity of the modular

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(\lambda|(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})|\right) \le \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(\lambda\left[\psi(\|f\|_{\infty})m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + \|f\|_{\infty}\right]\mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)}\right) < +\infty.$$

By Theorem 3.2.1 we can observe that, for every $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \lambda |(K_w f)(\underline{x}) - f(\underline{x})| = 0,$$

and so, with $g(\underline{x}) := \lambda \left[\psi(\|f\|_{\infty}) m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) + \|f\|_{\infty} \right] \mathbf{1}_{B(\underline{0},R+\gamma)} \in E_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it is possible to apply Theorem 1.1.14,, and so the thesis immediately follows. \Box

Now, in order to study the convergence of the operators $K_w f$ in the general case of functions belonging to modular spaces, we need to require the following growth condition, that provides a connection between pairs of modulars on $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ and the function ψ of the condition (χ 3).

Let $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}, \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ be two modulars on $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$. We suppose that, for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, there exists a constant $C_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$ satisfying

$$\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}(C_\lambda \psi(g)) \le \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}(\lambda g) \tag{H}$$

for any $g = (g_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$. We point out that this assumption is similar to condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , recalled in Section 3.3.

Moreover, in order to prove that the operators $K_w f$ are well-defined in the setting of modular spaces, we will exploit the following non trivial subset of $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Given E, K > 0 and $\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}, \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ two modulars on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ respectively, we define the subset $\mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ of $L_{\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ whose elements f are locally absolutely integrable and satisfy the following assumption (see [51,63])

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \frac{1}{w^n} \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}(\lambda F_w) \le E \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\lambda K f),$$
(5.8)

for every $\lambda > 0$, where $F_w = (f_{w,\underline{k}})_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, w > 0, with

$$f_{w,\underline{k}} := \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u})| d\underline{u}.$$
(5.9)

Therefore, we can establish the following theorem.

Theorem 5.1.4. Let $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, $\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$, $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ be two pairs of modulars on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, respectively. Assume in addition that $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is monotone, $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$, $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ satisfy condition (H), and χ is an L-compatible kernel with $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$. Then, given any two functions $f, g \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$, such that $f - g \in \mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for some E, K > 0, there exists a constant $0 < c \leq C_{\lambda}/D_2$, for which

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le E D_1 \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\lambda K(f - g) \right)$$

holds, for every $\lambda \in (0,1)$, for a suitable $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$, and where D_1, D_2 are the constants of the compatibility condition.

Proof. Let $\lambda \in (0,1)$ be fixed and let $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$ be the corresponding parameter arising from condition (H). Now, we can choose a positive constant c such that $c \leq C_{\lambda}/D_2$, where D_2 is the constant of the compatibility condition (5.1). By the monotonicity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ combined with the (L, ψ) -Lipschitz condition, we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\left(c(K_{w}f-K_{w}g)\right) &= \\ &= \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\left(c\left(\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\cdot-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right) - \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\chi\left(w\cdot-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}g(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right)\right)\right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\left(c\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\left|\chi\left(w\cdot-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}f(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right) - \chi\left(w\cdot-t_{\underline{k}},\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}g(\underline{u})d\underline{u}\right)\right|\right) \\ &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\left(c\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}L(w\cdot-t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|\,d\underline{u}\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Applying the compatibility condition (5.1), for sufficiently large w > 0, we can write

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le \frac{1}{w^n} D_1 \rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(c D_2 \psi((F - G)_w) \right) + b_w$$
$$\le \frac{1}{w^n} D_1 \rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n} \left(C_\lambda \psi((F - G)_w) \right) + b_w,$$

where $(F - G)_w = ((f - g)_{w,\underline{k}})$ denotes a net defined as in (5.9), i.e.

$$(f-g)_{w,\underline{k}} = \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u}) - g(\underline{u})| d\underline{u}.$$

and $b_w \to 0$, as $w \to +\infty$. Then, using (H) we get

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(c(K_wf - K_wg)\right) \le \frac{1}{w^n} D_1 \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}\left(\lambda(F - G)_w\right) + b_w.$$

Now, since $f - g \in \mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we obtain

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le E D_1 \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\lambda K(f - g) \right),$$

and this completes the proof.

Now, we are ready to prove the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 5.1.5. Let $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, $\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ be convex, monotone, strongly finite, absolutely finite and absolutely continuous modulars on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and let $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$, $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$ be two modulars on $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ satisfying condition (H). Further, let χ be a kernel L-compatible with $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}$, and satisfying assumption (5.2) together with $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$. Then, for every $f \in L_{\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} + \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, such that $f - C_c(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for some E, K > 0, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(c(K_w f - f)) = 0.$$

Proof. Let f be as in the statement. By the density theorem (Theorem 1.1.15), there is a positive constant $\overline{\lambda}$ (we may take $\overline{\lambda} < 1$) such that, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with

$$\left(\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} + \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}\right) \left(\lambda(f - g)\right) < \varepsilon.$$
(5.10)

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as above. Since $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by Theorem 5.1.2, for every $0 < \widetilde{\lambda} \leq \alpha/2$, where α is the parameter of the absolute continuity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$, we can write

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\widetilde{\lambda}(K_w g - g)) = 0.$$
(5.11)

In correspondence to the above $\overline{\lambda} > 0$, choose now $\lambda > 0$ so small that $\lambda K < \overline{\lambda}$, where $K \ge 1$ is the constant of the definition (5.8) and let

$$c \le \min\left\{\frac{C_{\lambda}}{3D_2}, \frac{\alpha}{6}, \frac{\lambda}{3}\right\},\$$

where D_2 is the constant of the compatibility condition and C_{λ} is the constant of condition (H) corresponding to λ . Then, by the monotonicity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and condition (ρ_3) of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}$

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(c(K_w f - f)) &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(3c(K_w f - K_w g)) + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(3c(K_w g - g)) + \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(3c(f - g)) \\ &=: I_1 + I_2 + I_3. \end{split}$$

Now, applying Theorem 5.1.4 to I_1 , we obtain

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(3c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le E D_1 \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\lambda K(f - g) \right) \le E D_1 \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\overline{\lambda}(f - g) \right),$$

where, without loss of generality, we can suppose $ED_1 > 1$. For what concerns I_2 , applying (5.11), we can write

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(3c(K_wg-g)) \le \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}(K_wg-g)\right) < \varepsilon_{\mathbb{R}^n}$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large.

As concerns I_3 , we have $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(3c(f-g)) \leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\lambda(f-g)) \leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\overline{\lambda}(f-g))$, since $\lambda K < \overline{\lambda}, K \geq 1$.

In conclusion, by (5.10), we have

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(c(K_wf-f)) < ED_1(\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n} + \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n})(\overline{\lambda}(f-g)) + \varepsilon < (ED_1+1)\varepsilon,$$

for w > 0 sufficiently large. Since ε is chosen at will, the above estimation implies that $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}(c(K_w f - f)) \to 0$, as $w \to +\infty$, as desired.

5.2 Particular case: convergence results in Musielak-Orlicz spaces

In this section, we consider some particular cases of modular spaces in which the theory developed in the previous section holds: the *Musielak-Orlicz spaces*.

In order to see that the previous convergence theorem can be applied to these spaces, we need to recall the expression of the modular functionals characterizing these spaces.

Let φ and ξ be two fixed φ -functions, and set

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}(f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\underline{t}, |f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t}, \qquad \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi}(f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \xi(\underline{t}, |f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t}$$

where $f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Both $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}$ and $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi}$ are modulars on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which satisfy the properties (a)-(e) given in Section 1.1.

Now, let $\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\varphi}$ and $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi}$ be two modulars on $X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$, defined by

$$\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\varphi}(g) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi(t_{\underline{k}}, |g_{\underline{k}}|) \qquad \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi}(g) := \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \xi(t_{\underline{k}}, |g_{\underline{k}}|),$$

with $g = (g_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$.

In this frame, the growth condition (H) can be deduced requiring the following inequality involving the φ -functions φ and ξ : for every $\lambda \in (0,1)$ there exists $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$ satisfying

$$\varphi(\underline{t}, C_{\lambda}\psi(u)) \le \xi(\underline{t}, \lambda u), \tag{H}_{\varphi}$$

for every $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$.

Furthermore, the compatibility condition (5.1) is easily seen in this setting. In fact, by the Jensen inequality, the Fubini-Tonelli theorem and the change of variable $w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}} = \underline{y}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} g_{\underline{k}} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\underline{t}, \left| \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} g_{\underline{k}} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right| \right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\underline{t}, \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |g_{\underline{k}}| L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) \varphi(\underline{t}, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) |g_{\underline{k}}|) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|_1}{w^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi(\underline{t}, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) |g_{\underline{k}}|) \\ &= \frac{\|L\|_1}{w^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\varphi}(m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) g), \end{split}$$

from which (5.1) follows with $D_1 = \|L\|_1 / m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, $D_2 = m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$ and $b_w = 0$.

The following lemmas are related to assumption (5.2).

Lemma 5.2.1. Let φ be a fixed φ -function which satisfies the following additional assumption

 $(\varphi 4)$ for sufficiently large N > 0

$$\sup_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 > N} \varphi(\underline{t}, u) =: K_u < +\infty,$$

for every $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$.

Then assumption (5.2) holds.

Proof. Let $\gamma > 0$ and a > 0 be fixed. Moreover, we consider the ball centered at the origin and with the radius $N, \mathcal{I} := B(\underline{0}, N) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, where N > 0 is the parameter of assumption ($\varphi 4$). Using Jensen inequality and applying conditions ($\varphi 2$) and ($\varphi 4$), we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi \left(\underline{t}, a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\underline{t}) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) d\underline{t} \\ &= \int_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 > N} \varphi \left(\underline{t}, a \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 > N} \varphi \left(\underline{t}, a m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) \right) \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{K_a m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \sum_{\|t_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \leq w\gamma} \int_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 > N} L(w \underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{t} , \end{split}$$

for w > 0, where $K_{a \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}$ is the constant of assumption ($\varphi 4$) with $u = a \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$. By the change of variable $\underline{y} = w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) &\leq \frac{K_{a \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}}{w^n \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L(\underline{y}) d\underline{y} \\ &\leq \frac{K_{a \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}}{w^n \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left\| L \right\|_1 \cdot G, \end{split}$$

where G > 0 represents the number of terms of the above sum in fact corresponding to the number of $t_{\underline{k}}/w$ belonging to $B(\underline{0}, \gamma)$. For every $w \ge 1$, we can estimate Gas follows

$$G \leq \left(2\left(\left[\frac{\gamma w}{\delta}\right]+1\right)\right)^n = 2^n \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n}{i} \left[\frac{\gamma w}{\delta}\right]^{n-i} = 2^n w^n \left(\left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^n + n \left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^{n-1} \frac{1}{w} + \dots + \frac{1}{w^n}\right)$$
$$\leq w^n \left\{2^n \left(\left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^n + n \left[\frac{\gamma}{\delta}\right]^{n-1} + \dots + 1\right)\right\} =: w^n \cdot P,$$

where $[\cdot]$ denotes the integer part. Thus

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\left\| t_{\underline{k}} \right\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot - t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \le \frac{K_{a \ m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)}}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left\| L \right\|_1 P,$$

for every $w \ge 1$. This completes the proof.

Lemma 5.2.2. Let φ be a fixed φ -function which satisfies the following additional assumption

 $(\varphi 5) \varphi(\cdot, u) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for every $u \in \mathbb{R}^+_0$.

Then assumption (5.2) holds.

Proof. Let $\gamma > 0$, a > 0 and $\mathcal{I} := B(\underline{0}, N)$, N > 0, be fixed. We easily get

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(a \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \mathcal{I}}(\cdot) \sum_{\|\underline{t}_{\underline{k}}\|_2 \le w\gamma} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}}) \right) \le \int_{\|\underline{t}\|_2 > N} \varphi\left(\underline{t}, a \, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)\right) d\underline{t} \\ \le \|\varphi\left(\cdot, a \, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)\right)\|_1 < +\infty.$$

In the previous lemmas we have provided two different sufficient conditions for the assumption (5.2) based on properties of φ .

Now, we can state the following lemma concerning the space $\mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, generated by $\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi}$ and $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi}$. In particular, we show that $\mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is not trivial and not empty.

Lemma 5.2.3. Let $f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a locally integrable function. Then $f \in \mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $E := \delta^{-n}$ and K := C, where δ is one of the parameters of the sequence Π^n and C is the constant of condition ($\varphi 3$).

Proof. For every $\lambda > 0$, applying the Jensen inequality and conditions ($\varphi 2$) and ($\varphi 3$), we can write

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{w^n} \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi} (\lambda F_w) &= \frac{1}{w^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \xi \left(t_{\underline{k}}, \lambda \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{w^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} \xi \left(t_{\underline{k}}, \lambda |f(\underline{u})| \right) d\underline{u} \\ &= \frac{1}{w^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} \xi \left(\underline{u} - \underline{u} + t_{\underline{k}}, \lambda |f(\underline{u})| \right) d\underline{u} \\ &\leq \delta^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \xi(\underline{u}, \lambda C |f(\underline{u})|) d\underline{u}. \end{split}$$

Now, passing to the limsup as w approaches $+\infty$, we obtain the thesis

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \frac{1}{w^n} \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\xi}(\lambda F_w) \le \delta^{-n} \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi}(\lambda Cf),$$

where $F_w = (f_{w,\underline{k}})_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n), w > 0$, with $f_{w,\underline{k}}$ defined as in (5.9), with $E = \delta^{-n}$ and K = C.

The following theorem summarize all the results obtained in Section 5.1 in the case of Musielak-Orlicz spaces.

Theorem 5.2.4. Let φ be a fixed φ -function which satisfies at least one between conditions (φ 4) and (φ 5). Hence, the following statements hold

1. for $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} (\lambda(K_w f - f)) = 0,$$

for every $0 < \lambda \leq \alpha/2$, where α is the parameter of the absolutely continuity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}$. In particular, if the function L of condition ($\chi 3$) has compact support such convergence result holds for every $\lambda > 0$.

2. For every locally integrable functions $f, g \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and assuming that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) , there exists a constant $0 < c \leq C_{\lambda}/m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, for which

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right) + \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right)$$

holds, for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, where $C_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$ is the constant of condition (H_{φ}) , δ is one of the parameters of sequence Π^n and C is the constant of condition (φ^3) .

3. For every $f \in L^{\varphi+\xi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} (c(K_w f - f)) = 0.$$

- *Proof.* 1. As we said, $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}$ is a modular satisfying the properties (a)-(e) of Section 1.1, and from Lemmas 5.2.1 and 5.2.2, φ is a φ -function which satisfy condition (5.2). Hence, the first statement follows applying Theorem 5.1.2. If the kernel function χ satisfies condition (χ 3) with L having compact support, we can exploit Theorem 5.1.3 to get the second part of the thesis.
- 2. Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 5.1.4, for every $f, g \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we can choose a positive constant c such that $c \leq C_{\lambda}/m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, where C_{λ} is the constant of condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) . Using Jensen inequality twice, condition (\mathcal{H}_{φ}) , assumptions $(\varphi 2)$ and $(\varphi 3)$,

and Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{\varphi} \left(c(K_{w}f - K_{w}g) \right) &\leq \rho_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{\varphi} \left(c\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w \cdot -t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) \right) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \varphi\left(\underline{t}, c\sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}})\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) \right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}})\varphi\left(\underline{t}, c\,m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)\psi\left(\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) \right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}})\xi\left(\underline{t}, \lambda\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}})\xi\left(\underline{t}_{\underline{k}}, \lambda C\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) d\underline{t} \\ &= \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{w^{n}m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \xi\left(\underline{t}_{\underline{k}}, \lambda C\frac{w^{n}}{A_{\underline{k}}}\int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|d\underline{u}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{\delta^{n}m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \xi\left(\underline{t}_{\underline{k}}, \lambda C|(f-g)(\underline{u})|\right) d\underline{u} \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{\delta^{n}m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^{w}} \xi\left(\underline{u}, \lambda C^{2}|(f-g)(\underline{u})|\right) d\underline{u} \\ &= \frac{\|L\|_{1}}{\delta^{n}m_{0,\Pi^{n}}(L)} \eta_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{\xi} \left(\lambda C^{2}(f-g)\right). \end{split}$$

3. This statement can be proved by the previous ones following the same steps of the proof of Theorem 5.1.5.

5.2.1 Convergence results in weighted Orlicz spaces

As a particular example of Musielak-Orlicz spaces, one can consider φ -functions of product type, of the form

$$\varphi(\underline{t}, u) := \theta(\underline{t}) \ \widetilde{\varphi}(u),$$

with $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$, which satisfy conditions $(\mathcal{F}1)$ - $(\mathcal{F}3)$ (see p. 8 of Section 1.1.1). It is easy to check that the assumption $(\varphi 4)$ is also satisfied, in addition to assumptions $(\varphi 1)$ - $(\varphi 3)$. Therefore, from Theorem 5.2.4, we immediately obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 5.2.5. Let φ be a fixed φ -function of the form $\varphi(\underline{t}, u) := \theta(\underline{t}) \ \widetilde{\varphi}(u)$, $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^n_0$. Hence, the following statements hold

1. for $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} (\lambda(K_w f - f)) = 0,$$

for every $0 < \lambda \leq \alpha/2$, where α is the parameter of the absolutely continuity of $\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}$. In particular, if the function L of condition ($\chi 3$) has compact support such convergence result holds for every $\lambda > 0$.

2. For every locally integrable functions $f, g \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and assuming that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) , there exists a constant $0 < c \leq C_{\lambda}/m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, for which

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi} \left(c(K_w f - K_w g) \right) \le \frac{\delta^{-n} \left\| L \right\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi} \left(\lambda C^2(f - g) \right)$$

holds, for every $\lambda \in (0,1)$, where $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$ is the constant of condition (H_{φ}) , δ is one of the parameters of sequence Π^n and C is the constant of condition (φ^3) .

3. For every $f \in L^{\varphi+\xi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}(c(K_w f - f)) = 0$$

Remark 5.2.6. The convergence results established in the present section extend for the nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators (and also for the linear ones, see Remark 3.1.3) the convergence results proved in [2]. More precisely, in [2] the convergence has been proved for the usual weighted sup-norm, while here we can deduce the convergence with respect to the weighted L^p -norm, $1 \le p < +\infty$.

5.2.2 Convergence results in Orlicz spaces

In this section, we consider the φ -functions of the form $\varphi(\underline{t}, u) = \widetilde{\varphi}(u), \underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}^+_0$, presented in Example 1.1.21 for $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$. In order to simplify the notation, we write φ instead of $\widetilde{\varphi}$, as in Section 1.1.2. So, we take the following modulars on $X(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$I^{\varphi}[f] := \rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\varphi}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(|f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t}, \qquad I^{\xi}[f] := \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\xi}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \xi(|f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t}.$$

Hence, we can state the following corollary, whose thesis follows as a consequence of Theorem 5.2.4.

Corollary 5.2.7. Let φ be a fixed convex φ -function of the form $\varphi(\underline{t}, u) = \varphi(u)$, $\underline{t} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$. Hence, the following statements hold

1. for $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi}[\lambda(K_w f - f)] = 0,$$

for every $0 < \lambda \leq \alpha/2$, where α is the parameter of the absolutely continuity of I^{φ} . In particular, if L has compact support such convergence result holds for every $\lambda > 0$.

2. For every locally integrable functions $f, g \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and assuming that φ satisfies condition (H_{φ}) , there exists a constant $0 < c \leq C_{\lambda}/m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, for which

$$\limsup_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi} \left[c(K_w f - K_w g) \right] \le \frac{\delta^{-n} \|L\|_1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} I^{\xi} \left(\lambda(f - g) \right),$$

holds, for every $\lambda \in (0,1)$, where $C_{\lambda} \in (0,1)$ and δ is one of the parameters of sequence Π^n .

3. For every $f \in L^{\varphi+\xi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\lim_{w \to +\infty} I^{\varphi}[c(K_w f - f)] = 0.$$

5.3 Particular case: modulars without an integral representation

In the previous section, we discussed examples of modular spaces characterized by modular functionals in the integral form. In this section, we discuss examples of modulars that are defined by the supremum, as in Section 1.1.3.

We recall the definition of the modulars characterizing these spaces

$$\rho_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\Phi}(f) := \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_a^b a_\ell(x) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Phi(x, |f(\underline{t})|) d\underline{t} \right] dm(x),$$
$$\rho_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\Phi}(g) := \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_a^b a_\ell(x) \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Phi(x, |\underline{g}_{\underline{k}}|) \right] dm(x),$$

with $f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $g = (g_{\underline{k}})_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in X(\mathbb{Z}^n)$. Considering a given kernel χ with L of condition (χ 3) having compact support, we have that the compatibility condition (5.1) holds. In fact, by the Jensen inequality and the Fubini-Tonelli theorem, we

have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Phi\left(x, \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |g_{\underline{k}}| L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}})\right) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Phi\left(x, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) |g_{\underline{k}}|\right) L(w\underline{t} - t_{\underline{k}}) d\underline{t} \\ &\leq \frac{\|L\|_1}{w^n m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)} \sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Phi\left(x, m_{0,\Pi^n}(L) |g_{\underline{k}}|\right), \end{split}$$

for which (5.1) follows with $D_1 = \|L\|_1 / m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$, $D_2 = m_{0,\Pi^n}(L)$ and $b_w = 0$. Since $L \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$, in view of Remark 5.1.1, it follows that also (5.2) is satisfied. Finally, by defining the modulars $\eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\Psi}$ and $\eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\Psi}$ analogously as above (with the function $\Psi : [a, b[\times \mathbb{R}^+_0 \to \mathbb{R}^+_0]$ in place of Φ), it turns out that any $f \in X(\mathbb{R}^n)$ belongs to $\mathcal{L}_{E,K}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $E = 1/\delta^n$ and K = 1. In fact, using Jensen inequality again

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{w^n} \eta_{\mathbb{Z}^n}^{\Psi}(\lambda F_w) &= \frac{1}{w^n} \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_a^b a_\ell(x) \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Psi\left(x, \lambda \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} |f(\underline{u})| d\underline{u} \right) \right] dm(x) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{w^n} \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_a^b a_\ell(x) \left[\sum_{\underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{w^n}{A_{\underline{k}}} \int_{R_{\underline{k}}^w} \Psi\left(x, \lambda |f(\underline{u})|\right) d\underline{u} \right] dm(x) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\delta^n} \sup_{\ell \in W} \int_a^b a_\ell(x) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Psi\left(x, \lambda |f(\underline{u})|\right) d\underline{u} \right] dm(x) = \frac{1}{\delta^n} \eta_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\Psi}(\lambda f), \end{aligned}$$

for $\lambda > 0$ sufficiently small. Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.5 are satisfied.

Conclusions and future developments

This thesis provides a contribution to the study of *nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators* by combining the theoretical framework of modular spaces with the investigation of convergence results and quantitative and qualitative estimates.

This kind of operators represents an averaged version, in Kantorovich-sense, of the generalized sampling operators introduced by P. L. Butzer in the years 80s and includes, as special case, the linear ones, that can be obtained by taking the kernel χ of the form $\chi(\underline{x}, u) = L(\underline{x})u, \underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, it is natural to introduce some suitable assumptions due to the nonlinear setting which furnishes a generalization, not only from the mathematical point of view, but also in terms of practical applications.

Another important point of the thesis is the multivariate setting that allows to reconstruct, from the point of view of the applications, also signals that are mathematically modeled by functions of several variables such as, for example, digital images, paving the way for their possible application in the Image Processing field. Furthermore, the general setting of modular spaces in which we work allows us to deduce the convergence results in several concrete cases, such as Musielak-Orlicz spaces, Orlicz spaces, and many others presented throughout the thesis, by a unifying approach.

The results obtained in this thesis, in addition to providing contributions and tools for the study of the approximation properties of families of nonlinear operators, lay the foundations for future developments of the theory, both in general settings, such as modular spaces, and in terms of new approximation properties to investigate. In this respect, quantitative estimates in the general setting of modular spaces is an open problem which constitutes the natural development of this thesis and which we have already begun to examine.

Bibliography

- A. Abdurexit, T. N. Bekjan, Noncommutative Orlicz modular spaces associated with growth functions, Banach J. Math. Anal., 9, No. 4 (2015), 115-125.
- [2] T. Acar, O. Alagöz, A. Aral, D. Costarelli, M. Turgay, G. Vinti, Approximation by sampling Kantorovich series in weighted space of functions, Turkish Journal of Mathematics, 46, No. 7 (2022), 2663-2676.
- [3] A. M. Acu, A. Aral, I. Raşa, Generalized Bernstein Kantorovich operators: Voronovskaya type results, convergence in variation, Carpathian Journal of Mathematics, 38, No. 1 (2022), 1-12.
- [4] A. M. Acu, I. C. Buscu, I. Raşa, Generalized Kantorovich modifications of positive linear operators, Math. Foundations of Computing, 6, No. 1 (2023), 54-62.
- [5] A. M. Acu, I. Raşa, Estimates for the differences of positive linear operators and their derivatives, Numerical Algorithms, 85 (2020), 191-208.
- [6] G. Allasia, R. Cavoretto, A. De Rossi, A class of spline functions for landmarkbased image registration, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 35 (2012), 923-934.
- [7] G. Allasia, R. Cavoretto, A. De Rossi, Lobachevsky spline functions and interpolation to scattered data, Comput. Appl. Math., 32 (2013), 71-87.
- [8] L. Angeloni, N. Çetin, D. Costarelli, A. R. Sambucini, G. Vinti, Multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators: quantitative estimates in Orlicz spaces, Constructive Mathematical Analysis, 4, No. 2 (2021), 229-241.
- [9] L. Angeloni, D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, A characterization of the convergence in variation for the generalized sampling series, Annales Academiae Scientiarum Fennicae Mathematica, 43 (2018), 755-767.
- [10] L. Angeloni, G. Vinti, A unified approach to approximation results with applications to nonlinear sampling theory, Int. J. Math. Sci., 3, No. 1 (2004), 93-128.

- [11] L. Angeloni, G. Vinti, Convergence in variation and rate of approximation for nonlinear integral operators of convolution type, Results in Mathematics, 49 (2006), 1-23.
- [12] F. Asdrubali, G. Baldinelli, F. Bianchi, D. Costarelli, A. Rotili, M. Seracini, G. Vinti, Detection of thermal bridges from thermographic images by means of image processing approximation algorithms, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 317 (2018), 160-171.
- [13] C. Bardaro, P. L. Butzer, R.L. Stens, G. Vinti, Kantorovich-type generalized sampling series in the setting of Orlicz spaces, Sampling Theory Signal and Image Processing, 6, No. 1 (2007), 29-52.
- [14] C. Bardaro, H. Karsli, G. Vinti, On pointwise convergence of linear integral operators with homogeneous kernels, Integral Transforms and Special Functions, 19, No. 6 (2008), 429-439.
- [15] C. Bardaro, H. Karsli, G. Vinti, Nonlinear integral operators with homogeneous kernels: Pointwise approximation theorems, Applicable Analysis, 90, No. 3 (2011), 463-474.
- [16] C. Bardaro, H. Karsli, G. Vinti, On Pointwise Convergence of Mellin Type Nonlinear m-Singular Integral Operators, Communications on Applied Nonlinear Analysis, 20, No. 2 (2013), 25-39.
- [17] C. Bardaro, I. Mantellini, Modular Approximation by Sequences of Nonlinear Integral Operators in Musielak-Orlicz Spaces, Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena, 46 (1998), 403-425.
- [18] C. Bardaro, I. Mantellini, Approximation properties in abstract modular spaces for a class of general sampling-type operators, Applicable Anal., 85, No. 4 (2006), 383-413.
- [19] C. Bardaro, I. Mantellini, Asymptotic Formulae for Linear Combinations of Generalized Sampling Operators, Journal for Analysis and its Applications, 32 (2013), 279-298.
- [20] C. Bardaro, J. Musielak, G. Vinti, On the definition and properties of a general modulus of continuity in some functional spaces, Math. Japon, 43 (1996), 445-450.
- [21] C. Bardaro, J. Musielak, G. Vinti, Nonlinear operators of integral type in some function spaces, Fourth International Conference on Function Spaces (Zielona Góra, 1995) Collect. Math., 48 (1997), 409-422.

- [22] C. Bardaro, J. Musielak, G. Vinti, Nonlinear Integral Operators and Applications, De Gruyter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications, Walter de Gruyer & Co., Berlin, (2003).
- [23] C. Bardaro, G. Vinti, Some estimates of certain integral operators in generalized fractional Orlicz classes, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 12, No. 5&6 (1991), 443-453.
- [24] C. Bardaro, G. Vinti, Uniform convergence and rate of approximation for a nonlinear version of the generalized sampling operators, Results Math., 34 (1998), 224-240.
- [25] C. Bardaro, G. Vinti, On the order of modular approximation for nets of integral operators in modular Lipschitz classes, Funct. Approx. Comment. Math., 26 (1998), 139-154.
- [26] A. Boccuto, X. Dimitriou, Modular convergence theorems for integral operators in the context of filter exhaustiveness and applications Mediterr. J. Math., 10, No. 2 (2013), 823-842.
- [27] J. L. Brown, On the error in reconstructing a non-bandlimited function by means of the bandpass sampling theorem, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 18, No. 1 (1967), 75-84.
- [28] P. L. Butzer, H. G. Feichtinger, K. Gröchenig, Error analysis in regular and irregular sampling theory, Appl. Anal., 50 (1993), 167-189.
- [29] P. L. Butzer, A. Fisher, R. L. Stens, Approximation of continuous and discontinuous functions by generalized sampling series, J. Approx. Theory, 50 (1987), 25-39.
- [30] P. L. Butzer, A. Fisher, R. L. Stens, Generalized sampling approximation of multivariate signals, Atti Sem. Fis. Univ. Modena, 41 (1993), 17-37.
- [31] P. L. Butzer, R. J. Nessel, Fourier Analysis and Approximation I, Pure Appl. Math. 40, Academic Press, New York, London (1971).
- [32] P. L. Butzer, S. Ries, R. L. Stens, Approximation of continuous and discontinuous functions by generalized sampling series, J. Approx. Theory, 50 (1987), 25-39.
- [33] P. L. Butzer, W. Splettstößer, R. L. Stens, The sampling theorem and linear prediction in signal analysis, Jahresber. Deutsch. Math. Verein, 90 (1988), 1-70.
- [34] P. L. Butzer, R. L. Stens, A modification of the Whittaker-Kotelnikov-Shannon sampling series, Aequationes Math., 28 (1985), 305-311.

- [35] P. L. Butzer, R. L. Stens, *Linear prediction by samples from past*, Advanced Topics in Shannon Sampling and Interpolation Theory, R. J. Marks II, Springer Texts Electrical Eng., Springer New York (1993), 157-183.
- [36] N. Çetin, D. Costarelli, M. Natale, G. Vinti, Nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators: quantitative estimates in functional spaces, Dolomites Research Notes on Approximation, 15, No. 3 (2022), 12-25.
- [37] L. Coroianu, S. G. Gal, Approximation by nonlinear Hermite-Fejér interpolation operators of max-product kind on Chebyshev knots, Rev. d'Anal. Numér. Théor. Approx. (Cluj), 39, No. 1 (2010), 21-31.
- [38] L. Coroianu, S. G. Gal, Lp-approximation by truncated max-product sampling operators of Kantorovich-type based on Fejér kernel, J. Integral Equ. Appl., 29, No. 2 (2017), 349-364.
- [39] L. Coroianu, S. G. Gal, Approximation by truncated max-product operators of Kantorovich-type based on generalized (Φ, Ψ) -kernels, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 41, No. 17 (2018), 7971-7984.
- [40] L. Coroianu, S. G. Gal, Approximation by max-product operators of Kantorovich type, Stud. Univ. Babes-Bolyai Math., 64, No. 2 (2019), 207-223.
- [41] D. Costarelli, Nonlinear exponential sampling: approximation results and applications, in print in: Results of Mathematical Analysis and its Applications, CRC Press, Taylor and Frencis Group, (2023).
- [42] D. Costarelli, A. M. Minotti, G. Vinti, Approximation of discontinuous signals by sampling Kantorovich series, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 450 (2017), 1083-1103.
- [43] D. Costarelli, M. Natale, G. Vinti, Convergence results for nonlinear sampling Kantorovich operators in modular spaces, Numerical Functional Analysis and Optimization, 44, No. 12, (2023) 1276-1299.
- [44] D. Costarelli, M. Seracini, G. Vinti, A segmentation procedure of the pervious area of the aorta artery from CT images without contrast medium, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, 43 (2020), 114-133.
- [45] D. Costarelli, M. Seracini, G. Vinti, A comparison between the sampling Kantorovich algorithm for digital image processing with some interpolation and quasi-interpolation methods, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 374 (2020).
- [46] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Approximation by multivariate generalized sampling Kantorovich operators in setting of Orlicz spaces, Bollettino UMI, 9, No. 4 (2011), 445-468.

- [47] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Approximation by nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich type operators and applications to image processing, Num. Funct. Anal. Optim., 34 (2013), 819-844.
- [48] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators: from the theory to the Digital Image Processing algorithm, Proc. Appl. Math. Mech., 15 (2015), 655-656.
- [49] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Degree of approximation for nonlinear multivariate sampling Kantorovich operators on some functions spaces, Num. Funct. Anal. Optim., 36, No. 8 (2015), 964-990.
- [50] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Approximation results by multivariate sampling Kantorovich series in Musielak-Orlicz spaces, Dolomites Research Notes on Approximation, 12 (2019), 7-16.
- [51] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Convergence of sampling Kantorovich operators in modular spaces with applications, Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo Series 2, 70 (2021), 1115-1136.
- [52] D. Costarelli, G. Vinti, Approximation properties of the sampling Kantorovich operators: regularization, saturation, inverse results and Favard classes in Lpspaces, Journal of Fourier Analysis and Applications, 28, No. 49 (2022), 1-42.
- [53] D. Cruz-Uribe, P. Hasto, Extrapolation and interpolation in generalized Orlicz spaces, Trans. Am. Math. Soc., 370 (2018), 4323-4349.
- [54] K. Demirci, S. Orhan, Statistical relative approximation on modular spaces, Results Math., 71, No. 3-4 (2017), 1167-1184.
- [55] L. Diening, Maximal function on Musielak-Orlicz spaces and generalized Lebesgue spaces, Bull. Sci. Math., 129 (2005), 657-700.
- [56] C. Donnini, G. Vinti, Approximation by means of Kantorovich generalized sampling operators in Musielak-Orlicz spaces, PanAmerican Math. Journal, 18, No. 2 (2008), 1-18.
- [57] H. Gonska, M. Heilmann, I. Raşa, Kantorovich operators of order k, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 32, No. 7 (2011), 717-738.
- [58] S. Haber, O. Shisha, Improper integrals, simple integrals, and numerical quadrature, Journal of Approximation Theory, 11 (1974), 1-15.
- [59] H. Karsli, Some convergence results for nonlinear singular integral operators, Demonstratio Mathematica, 46, No. 4 (2013), 729-740.

- [60] A. Kivinukk, G. Tamberg, Interpolating Generalized Shannon Sampling Operators, Their Norms and Approximation Properties, Sampl. Theory in Signal and Image Processing, 8, No. 1 (2009), 77-95.
- [61] W. M. Kozlowski, Modular Function Spaces, Pure Appl. Math., Marcel Dekker, New York (1998).
- [62] I. Mantellini, Generalized sampling operators in modular spaces, Comment. Math., 38 (1998), 77-92.
- [63] I. Mantellini, G. Vinti, Approximation results for nonlinear integral operators in modular spaces and applications, Annales Polonici Mathematici, 81, No. 1 (2003), 55-71.
- [64] J. Musielak, Orlicz Spaces and Modular Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1034, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1983).
- [65] J. Musielak, On some approximation problems in modular spaces, Proceedings of Int. Conf. on Constructive Function Theory, Varna 1981, Sofia (1983), 455-461.
- [66] J. Musielak, Approximation by nonlinear singular integral operators in generalized Orlicz spaces, Commentationes Math., 31 (1991), 79-88.
- [67] J. Musielak, Nonlinear approximation in some modular function space, Math. Japonica, 38, No. 1 (1993), 83-90.
- [68] J. Musielak, On approximation by nonlinear integral operators with generalized Lipschitz kernel over a compact abelian group, Commentationes Math., 35 (1993), 99-104.
- [69] J. Musielak, On nonlinear integral operators, Atti Sem. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena, 47 (1999), 183-190.
- [70] J. Musielak, W. Orlicz On Modular Spaces, Studia Math., 28 (1959), 49-65.
- [71] H. Nakano, Modulared Semi-Ordered Linear Spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo (1950).
- [72] O. Orlova, G. Tamberg, On approximation properties of generalized Kantorovich-type sampling operators, Journal of Approximation Theory, 201 (2016), 73-86.
- [73] M. M. Rao, Z. D. Ren, *Theory of Orlicz Spaces*, Pure and Appl. Math., Marcel Dekker Inc., New York-Basel-Hong Kong, (1991).

- [74] M. M. Rao, Z. D. Ren, Applications of Orlicz Spaces, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics 250, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York (2002).
- [75] S. Ries, R. L. Stens, Approximation by generalized sampling series, Proc. Internat. Conf. Constructive Theory of Functions, Sofia (1984), 746-756.
- [76] G. Tamberg, On truncation errors of some generalized Shannon sampling operators, Numerical Algorithms, 55 (2010), 367-382.
- [77] G. Vinti, A general approximation result for nonlinear integral operators and applications to signal processing, Appl. Anal., 79 (2001), 217-238.
- [78] G. Vinti, L. Zampogni, Approximation by means of nonlinear Kantorovich sampling type operators in Orlicz spaces, Journal of Approximation Theory, 161 (2009), 511-528.
- [79] G. Vinti, L. Zampogni, A general method to study the convergence of nonlinear operators in Orlicz spaces, Advanced Nonlinear Studies, 22 (2022), 594-618.
- [80] P. Weiss, An estimate of the error arising from misapplication of the sampling theorem, Amer. Math. Sot. Notices, 10 (1963), 601-654.